

Planning Proposal

Amendment to Albury Local Environmental Plan 2010

Rezoning of land in Table Top and Splitters Creek

Prepared by AlburyCity Council

May 2017

CONTENTS

PART 1 – OBJECTIVES OR INTENDED OUTCOMES	1
PART 2 – EXPLANATION OF PROVISIONS	1
PART 3 – JUSTIFICATION	5
Section A - Need for the planning proposal.	5
Section B - Relationship to strategic planning framework	
Section C - Environmental, social and economic impact Section D - State and Commonwealth interests	
PART 4 – MAPPING	
PART 5 – COMMUNITY CONSULTATION	
PART 6 – PROJECT TIMELINE	.22
Table 1 – Project Timeline	.22
APPENDIX A	.23
Table 2 – Consideration of State Environmental Planning Policies	.23
Table 3 – Consideration of Section 117(2) Ministerial Directions	.34
APPENDIX B	.47
Figure 1 – Locality Plan	.47
Figure 2 – Land Zoning Maps (As Amended)	.48
Figure 3 – Lot Size Maps (As Amended)	.51
APPENDIX C	.63
Rural Lands Strategy for Table Top & Splitters Creek (Main Report)	.63
Rural Lands Strategy for Table Top & Splitters Creek (Background Report)	.64
Splitters Creek – Bush Fire Risk Management Plan (Preliminary Draft)	.65
APPENDIX D	.66
Table 1: Land affected by the proposed amendments to the Land Zoning Map and	
Lot Size Map	.66

PART 1 – OBJECTIVES OR INTENDED OUTCOMES

AlburyCity Council has resolved to prepare a Planning Proposal as per Section 55 of the *Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979* (EP&A Act). The proposal seeks to amend the land zoning and minimum lot size provisions of land in Table Top and Splitters Creek (subject land) (see **Figures 1-4** of this Planning Proposal and **Figure 1** of **Appendix B**) currently contained within the *Albury Local Environmental Plan 2010* (ALEP 2010).

That land (Lot and Deposited Plan) affected by proposed amendments to land zoning and lot size maps in Table Top and Splitters are listed separately (see **Table 1** of **Appendix D**).

The Planning Proposal has been prepared consistent with the land zoning and minimum lot size recommendations of the recently Council adopted and NSW Department of Planning & Environment endorsed *Rural Lands Strategy for Table Top & Splitters Creek* (Rural Lands Strategy)(see **Appendix C**).

PART 2 – EXPLANATION OF PROVISIONS

This Planning Proposal seeks to amend ALEP 2010 as outlined below:

- amend the Land Zoning Maps Sheets LZN_001, LZN_002, LZN_009 & LZN_010 as per the recommendations of the Rural Lands Strategy (as shown on the proposed Land Zoning Maps contained in Figures 1 & 3 of this Planning Proposal and Figure 2 of Appendix B), and
- amend the Lot Size Maps Sheets LSZ_001, LSZ_002, LSZ_009 & LSZ_010 as per the recommendations of the Rural Lands Strategy (as shown on the proposed Lot Size Maps contained in Figures 2 & 4 of this Planning Proposal and Figure 3 of Appendix B); and
- amend the legend of Lot Size Maps Sheets LSZ_003, LSZ_004, LSZ_005, LSZ_006, LSZ_007, LSZ_008 & LSZ_011 as a result of the proposed changes outlined above (as shown on the proposed Lot Size Maps shown in Figure 3 of Appendix B).









Figure 2 – Extract of lot size map indicating proposed changes sought by Planning Proposal in Splitters Creek





Figure 3 – Extract of zoning map indicating proposed changes sought by Planning Proposal in Table Top



Figure 4 – Extract of lot size map indicating proposed changes sought by Planning Proposal in Table Top



PART 3 – JUSTIFICATION

Section A - Need for the planning proposal.

1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report?

The Planning Proposal is the result of the recently Council adopted and NSW Department of Planning & Environment endorsed *Rural Lands Strategy for Table Top and Splitters Creek* (Rural Lands Strategy).

As background, local government boundary adjustments initiated in 2004 resulted in large parts of the surrounding former Hume Shire Council (including both Table Top and Splitters Creek) becoming part of the Albury Local Government Area (LGA). Consequently, AlburyCity also inherited the Hume Shire planning controls under the *Hume Local Environmental Plan 2001* that allowed for the subdivision of land down to a 2ha minimum with an 8ha average lot size in the 'Rural Living Zone' that applied across much of both Table Top and Splitters Creek.

These provisions enabled ad-hoc development and land fragmentation across much of Albury's rural areas creating the potential for land use conflict with existing agricultural pursuits, placed restrictions on future long term urban development opportunities and created issues with respect to the sustainable provision of services.

As part of AlburyCity's review of planning controls in the preparation of the *Draft Albury Local Environmental Plan 2010*, Council introduced controls to prevent any further subdivision in these areas by placing them into a 'holding pattern' pending further investigations in recognition of potential land use conflicts outlined above. In Splitters Creek, the former Rural Living areas were rezoned RU4 Primary Production Small Lots with an 80 hectare minimum lot size or E3 Environmental Management with a 100 hectare minimum lot size. In Table Top, these areas were zoned RU4 with a 40 hectare minimum lot size.

During public exhibition of the *Draft Albury Local Environmental Plan 2010* numerous submissions were received opposing the zoning and minimum lot size changes on the basis that subdivision opportunities would be reduced/removed ('locked up') for an indeterminate number of years. At this time Council resolved to support placing these areas into a holding pattern, but resolved to undertake further investigations to reconsider these provisions in the future.

The preparation, adoption and endorsement of the Rural Lands Strategy has fulfilled this commitment. The Rural Lands Strategy was subsequently prepared over a 14 month period and involved extensive consultation with all relevant persons, landowners and government agencies/public authorities.

The Rural Lands Strategy provides a systematic and documented investigation of both Splitters Creek and Table Top to inform and substantiate recommendations relating to settlement pattern, service infrastructure (including utilities and transport) and staging. In making these recommendations, the Rural Lands Strategy takes into consideration the following:

- future long term urban development opportunities;
- identification and retention of land for suitable agricultural pursuits;
- maintaining a supply of sufficient land in appropriate locations for rural lifestyle housing that does not compromise future long term development potential, safeguards existing and ongoing agricultural pursuits, respects natural physical constraints, responds to natural hazards and respects environmental values;
- coordinated, efficient and sustainable provision and use of necessary infrastructure;
- identification and resolution of any existing and future potential land use conflicts; and
- delivery of a safe, efficient and integrated transport network.

The purpose of the Rural Lands Strategy is to inform future planning decisions and provide the framework for statutory planning controls, which will give local communities, developers and other investor's greater certainty and confidence about future development in the Table Top and Splitters Creek areas. In summary, the Rural Lands Strategy will create opportunities for rural lifestyle and large lot residential purposes, whilst protecting productive agricultural pursuits and preserving future urban development opportunities.

The Rural Lands Strategy has been achieved through a collaborative approach between the NSW Department of Planning & Environment and AlburyCity using grant monies received under the Planning Reform Fund program.

Accordingly, the Rural Lands Strategy was subsequently adopted by Council on 26 October 2015 and endorsed by the NSW Department of Planning & Environment on 17 August 2016. The subject Planning Proposal has been prepared as a result of this Rural Lands Strategy.

Consequently, a number of changes are now recommended to the land zoning and minimum lot size provisions as contained within ALEP 2010, as they relate to Table Top and Splitters Creek, consistent with the recommendations of the Rural Lands Strategy.

Informed by detailed investigations, documented analysis and technical evidence (inclusive of constraints analysis, agricultural and urban land capability assessments, rural land use survey, demand and supply assessment) an overview of the Rural Lands Strategy recommended settlement pattern, consequential amendments to ALEP 2010 and other relevant issues as they relate to Splitters Creek and Table Top are outlined below.

Splitters Creek

The Rural Lands Strategy recommends that locations lower in the Splitters Creek catchment be developed at a 2-4ha minimum lot size along the Riverina Highway and the Bretton Road area, whilst locations higher in the Splitters Creek catchment be developed at an 8ha minimum lot size at the northern end of Splitters Creek Road. Whilst this only provides moderate development outcomes (44 additional lots), settlement outcomes sought recognise environmental sensitivities by avoiding steep terrain, heavy vegetation, waterways, areas subject to erosion and pre-existing bush fire risk that warrants careful management.

For those areas proposed to have a 2ha minimum lot size, it is also proposed to rezone this land from RU4 Primary Production Small Lots Zone to R5 Large Lot Residential Zone. The balance of the existing RU4 Primary Production Small Lots Zone land will remain zoned as such.

Table Top

The Planning Proposal, consistent with the Rural Lands Strategy recommends that land located along Table Top Road and surrounding the Lara Lakes rural residential estate is recommended to be developed at a 2ha minimum lot size. This reflects historic subdivision activities and land fragmentation that has occurred under previous Hume Shire planning controls on land now recognised as being relatively flat, having direct access to the local road network and connected to reticulated water.

A small area of discrete land immediately adjoining to the north of the Lara Lakes rural residential estate be developed at a 4ha minimum lot size, which will contribute to the diversity of rural residential opportunities and provide a transition in lot sizes to larger broad-acre farming lots located to the north.

In addition, it is also recommended that land located on the northern side of Table Top Road, south side of Perryman Lane and to the west along Dights Forest Road be developed at an 8ha minimum lot size. This provides a balance in providing for a diversity of rural lifestyle opportunities and an appropriate transition between rural residential living outcomes to the south and broad-acre farming pursuits to the north. In areas of land north of Burma Road and Perryman Lane a reduction to a 40ha minimum lot size also has been recommended. This is reflective of the current range of existing lot sizes, provides some modest subdivision opportunities and does not impede existing small scale broad-acre farming pursuits.

For those areas proposed to have a 2ha minimum lot size, it is also proposed to rezone this land from RU4 Primary Production Small Lots Zone to R5 Large Lot Residential Zone with the exception of that land located immediately east of Table Top Village where an RU5 Village Zone is proposed. The balance of the existing RU4 Primary Production Small Lots Zone land will remain zoned as such.

Whilst the Rural Lands Strategy recommends a 2ha minimum lot size on that land located immediately east of Table Top Village, it is noted that Albury Development Control Plan 2010 (ADCP 2010), Part 9: Development in the Rural Zones, Section 9.2.3: Waste Water Management stipulates that a lot size less than 2 hectares is permitted where connected to an off-site effluent disposal system in accordance with the *AlburyCity Engineering Guidelines for Subdivisions and*

Development Standards. ADCP 2010 also stipulates that in the absence of being connected to an off-site effluent disposal system, a default 2 hectare minimum lot size applies.

In recognition of existing ADCP 2010 provisions and a 4000 square metre minimum lot size applying in the RU5 Rural Village Zone elsewhere across the Table Top Village (contingent on being connected to an off-site effluent disposal system) the Planning Proposal seeks a 4000 square metre minimum lot size for that land located to the immediate east (this avoids the issue of dual minimum lot size provisions).

It is noted that ADCP 2010 provisions maintain consistency with Rural Lands Strategy minimum lot size recommendations through a default 2 hectare minimum lot size provision (in the absence of being connected to an off-site effluent disposal system).

That land currently zoned RU1 Primary Production (where a 40ha minimum lot size is recommended will remain zoned as such, with the exception of a small area of land on the northern side of Table Top Road and to the east of Mitchell Road, which is proposed to be rezoned from RU1 Primary Production to RU4 Primary Production Small Lots with an 8ha minimum lot size. This reflects existing lot sizes and previous approvals for the area, does not create uneconomic demands on infrastructure provision and assists in providing an additional buffer between rural residential living outcomes to the south and broad-acre farming pursuits to the north.

2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is there a better way?

The Planning Proposal is the best means of achieving the land zoning and minimum lot size recommendations as sought by AlburyCity. As outlined above, the Planning Proposal has been prepared in response to, and supported by, the recently endorsed Rural Lands Strategy.

In the absence of this Planning Proposal, the rural areas of Albury will remain in a 'holding pattern' indefinitely with limited opportunities for further subdivision or development. The impacts of this could be significant for landowners as it will provide no certainty or confidence regarding the long-term development opportunities of this land.

Section B - Relationship to strategic planning framework

3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions contained within the applicable regional or sub-regional strategy (including the Sydney Metropolitan Strategy and exhibited draft strategies)?

On 21 April 2016, the NSW Department of Planning & Environment released the *Draft Riverina– Murray Regional Plan*. The draft Plan seeks to provide a strategic planning framework to guide decision making and development in the Riverina-Murray region for the next 20 years.

Whilst it is acknowledged that the *Draft Riverina-Murray Regional Plan* remains pending and in draft format, in anticipation of a likely endorsement and a Ministerial Direction requiring councils to implement the objectives and actions of the *Final Riverina-Murray Regional Plan*, a response against relevant goals, directions and actions of this Draft Plan is outlined below:

Goal 1 (Economy) – A growing economy supported by productive agriculture and sustainable use of natural resources

The *Draft Riverina-Murray Regional Plan* acknowledges rural lands and natural resources are the foundations of the region's economic growth, employment and development.

In particular, Action 1.2.2 promotes the preparation of a strategic planning framework to protect the productive values of agricultural land (including mineral/renewable energy resources) and manage land use conflicts that can result from the cumulative impacts of successive development decisions.

In addition, Action 1.3.3 seeks to avoid urban expansion and rural residential development on productive agricultural land and identified mineral and energy resources.

The Rural Lands Strategy investigations and resultant settlement recommendations (via this Planning Proposal) are consistent with this Draft Strategy and seek similar outcomes including:

- recognising the importance of agricultural lands;
- protecting agricultural and resource lands for key agricultural and other industries from inappropriate development;
- providing clear and consistent direction for the management of agricultural lands;
- providing guidance on managing the interface between agricultural lands and other land uses; and
- providing direction about the sustainable management of agricultural lands to assist the preparation of evidence based local strategies.

Goal 2 (Transport & Infrastructure) – Improve regional transport networks and utility infrastructure to support economic activity

The *Draft Riverina-Murray Regional Plan* seeks to improve transport network reliability and efficiency, make best use of infrastructure and provide ongoing network capacity to allow the region's settlements, industries and agribusinesses to grow.

In particular, Action 2.3.2 seeks to establish monitoring mechanisms to enable better demand forecasting to inform infrastructure coordination.

Rural Lands Strategy investigations and resultant settlement recommendations (via this Planning Proposal) are consistent with this Draft Strategy and seek similar outcomes including:

• an analysis of infrastructure provision necessary to service settlement recommendations for both Table Top and Splitters Creek;

- a listing of consequential infrastructure provision (including road network improvements), indicative costings, and sequencing; and
- infrastructure commitments acknowledged by Council (via the Rural Lands Strategy) to inform future AlburyCity works programs and relevant infrastructure contributions policies.

Goal 3 (Settlements) – Strong regional cities supported by a network of liveable towns and villages that meet the community's changing needs

The *Draft Riverina–Murray Regional Plan* acknowledges that population growth across the Riverina-Murray region will not be evenly distributed, with the regional cities of Albury, Wagga Wagga and Griffith projected to experience the highest rate of growth.

Accordingly, the *Draft Riverina–Murray Regional Plan* seeks to support the function of the regional cities as hubs for jobs, services and housing.

In particular, Action 3.4.1 seeks to facilitate an increased range of housing options.

In addition, Action 3.4.4 seeks to develop and implement principles (criteria) for rural residential development to avoid land use conflict, reduce the loss or alienation of agricultural lands, assist the sustainable provision of services and infrastructure and avoid adverse impacts on the environment.

Rural Lands Strategy investigations and resultant settlement recommendations (via this Planning Proposal) are consistent with this Draft Strategy and seek similar outcomes including:

- the provision of housing diversity (inclusive of rural residential and rural lifestyle options) throughout the Albury LGA to accommodate housing demands; and
- identifies and promotes principles for sustainable rural residential development through housing provision in appropriate locations that are reflective of existing environmental constraints, will not compromise existing and ongoing agricultural pursuits and other industries and not impose uneconomic demands on service and infrastructure provision.

Goal 4 (Environment) – A protected environment and a community resilient to natural hazards and climate change

The *Draft Riverina–Murray Regional Plan* recognises that the Murray River and its catchment characterises the Riverina-Murray region. The *Draft Riverina–Murray Regional Plan* also acknowledges that there are many different and competing interests at play along the Murray, including settlement, environment, agriculture and tourism, each with an arguably equal right. For this reason, the river needs to be actively managed so that it is available for both current and future users.

Rural Lands Strategy investigations and resultant settlement recommendations (via this Planning Proposal), through appropriate environmental considerations and land capability assessment, does not does not derogate or depart from goals, directions and actions sought by the *Draft*

Riverina –Murray Regional Plan. In particular, it is noted that the subject land is not located within close proximity to the Murray River and will therefore not adversely affect the environmental or social functions that this waterway provides.

4. Is the planning proposal consistent with the council's local strategy or other local strategic plan?

The Planning Proposal is consistent with Council's relevant local planning strategy, being the Rural Lands Strategy, as it seeks to adopt all the land use zoning and minimum lot size recommendations as contained within this Plan.

The proposal is also consistent with Council's local community strategic plan, *Albury 2030*. The Albury 2030 Plan includes the following strategic aims under the theme of 'A Growing Economy':

• 1.3.2 – Support Albury's population growth – ensure policies facilitate sustainable growth and housing choice without compromising Albury's values.

Progress development of AlburyCity Structure Plans and/or Master Plans:

- Thurgoona/Wirlinga;
- Splitters Creek;
- Lake Hume and Table Top Villages;
- o Table Top.
- 1.3.3 Review and monitor the Local Environmental Plan and the Development Control Plan with regard to outcomes within Albury 2030;
- 1.3a Albury Land Monitor (residential, commercial and industrial sectors) Maintain a diversity of options amongst all sectors and continue to meet demand for opportunities for land development...; and
- 1.5.1 Promote Albury as a major regional economy and the regional city of choice for lifestyle, career and investment opportunities.

The preparation and implementation of the Rural Lands Strategy for Table Top and Splitters Creek, which seeks to change the land zoning and minimum subdivision lot size provisions for Albury's rural areas meets the aims of this theme of Albury 2030.

In particular, the rezoning of land for rural lifestyle purposes provides a diversity in housing choice, whilst protecting future long term urban development opportunities. The subject Planning Proposal also seeks to protect existing viable agricultural pursuits, limit potential land use conflicts and maintain Albury as the major economy of choice.

5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable state environmental planning policies?

The Planning Proposal is consistent with, or where applicable, justifiably inconsistent with *State Environmental Planning Policies*, as set out in **Table 2** of Appendix A.

6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s.117 directions)?

The Planning Proposal is consistent with, or where applicable, justifiably inconsistent with *Section 117(2) Ministerial Directions*, as set out in **Table 3** of Appendix A.

Section C - Environmental, social and economic impact

7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal?

The Planning Proposal will not create any adverse environmental impacts for threatened species, populations or ecological communities or their habitats, despite a proposed change in land use zoning and minimum lot size provisions, as they apply to parts of Albury's rural areas.

Previous city-wide environmental and strategic planning documentation (including the *Thurgoona Threatened Species Conservation Strategy 2004, Albury Ranges Threatened Species Conservation Strategy 2006* and the *draft Natural Assets Strategy*) has identified land considered desirable habitat network for threatened species populations to be retained across the Albury LGA.

These environmental investigations subsequently informed the preparation and gazettal of ALEP 2010, which identified and excised these same habitat networks from urban and rural zoned lands and zoned them E2 Environmental Conservation, E3 Environmental Management or E4 Environmental Living Zone, which is geared towards the protection, management and restoration of areas with special ecological, scientific, cultural or aesthetic value.

The spatial determinants and land management recommendations associated within these retained and desirable habitat networks have generally been based on tree cover, connectivity and are broadly based on wildlife conservation and provide protection to critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats

In response to these environmental attributes/values, it is noted that the subject Planning Proposal does not seek to alter, amend or reduce the spatial location or protection requirements of any environmental zoned land as contained within ALEP 2010.

Notwithstanding, it is acknowledged that a change in land use zoning and a reduction in minimum lot size provisions does have the potential to create environmental impacts such as additional vegetation clearing, edge impacts and hazard reduction works.

Therefore, during the preparation of the recently adopted and endorsed Rural Lands Strategy, detailed consideration was given to the environmental impacts of development located within environmentally sensitive areas. One of the primary aims of this Rural Lands Strategy was to minimise the environmental impacts of development by considering appropriate settlement outcomes (land use zoning and minimum lot sizes) in response to environmental conditions, including hazard reduction requirements and any associated or likely vegetation losses associated with more intensive forms of land development.

In particular, the Planning Proposal seeks to protect the high levels of amenity and environmental values of Splitters Creek by providing for only moderate development outcomes (44 additional lots) in locations lower in the Valley that are already being used for rural lifestyle purposes and that avoid areas of environmental sensitivity.

The designation of these areas for rural residential development were chosen to reflect and respond to existing environmental conditions including an avoidance of steep terrain, heavy vegetation, waterways and areas of high hazards and erosion. Additional opportunities for rural residential development also reflect previous planning controls under the former Hume Shire (Rural Living Zone) and land that has previously been cleared or used for rural residential purposes.

Similarly, the Planning Proposal seeks to protect the environmental attributes of land in Table Top. It is reiterated that the Planning Proposal does not seek to alter, amend or reduce the spatial location of any environmental zoned land within Table Top and seeks to avoid areas of environmental significance. It is noted that the location of proposed rural residential development generally reflects previously Rural Living zoned land, as well as land that has previously be cleared/developed for agricultural and rural lifestyle purposes (outside of isolated scattered paddocks trees).

Therefore, the Planning Proposal does not seek to change the location and spatial extent of environmental zones as contained within ALEP 2010. Accordingly, the Planning Proposal will not reduce the current environmental protection methods applying to land or create any adverse impacts with regards to the protection or conservation of environmentally sensitive areas, critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats.

8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?

Flooding & potential land contamination issues

The Planning Proposal has considered other likely environmental effects as a result of the proposed land use zoning and minimum lot size changes. In particular, both Table Top and Splitters Creek are not flood prone and the likelihood for land contamination is considered low.

Nonetheless, the subject land may be contaminated by previous and current land use activities including agricultural/horticultural activities, sheep and cattle dip sites etc. However, a combination of both topographical constraints, limited agricultural capabilities and proximity to existing urban and village areas has generally restricted agricultural activities to low impact uses such as extensive grazing and crop or fodder production. Likewise, other areas currently zoned RU4 Primary Production Small Lots in both Table Top and Splitters Creek have also historically only been used for the purposes of rural lifestyle and hobby farming, rather than commercial farming activities and therefore the likelihood of land contamination is considered low.

Notwithstanding, a further assessment against matters regarding land contamination is provided in response to *State Environmental Planning Policy No. 55 (Remediation of Land)* as contained within **Table 2** of Appendix A.

Bush fire issues

Matters regarding bushfire have also been considered as part of the preparation and endorsement of the Rural Lands Strategy. It is noted that the entire area of Splitters Creek and a small portion of Table Top are classified as being bushfire prone.

As a consequence, the Rural Lands Strategy was prepared in consultation with the NSW Rural Fire Service (NSW RFS). Although during the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy the NSW RFS did not oppose the proposed settlement recommendations, NSW RFS did identify Splitters Creek as having a pre-existing 'very high' bush fire risk rating, and consequently, emphasised that any potential increase in population needs to be managed carefully with respect to bush fire.

Accordingly, modest settlement pattern recommendations (38% growth) have already, to a large extent, responded to the existing bush fire risk by confining higher densities to areas lower in the catchment that benefit from proximity to the Riverina Highway for emergency access/egress purposes. Whilst higher in the catchment in more isolated parts of Splitters Creek, lower densities (4-8ha minimum lot sizes) have been proposed to assist in limiting future resident exposure to existing bush fire risk. Also, the larger recommended lot sizes (2-8ha) are considered sufficiently large enough to accommodate a regime of proposed bush fire protection measures relating to access/egress, asset protection zones and defendable space(s).

In addition, the Rural Lands Strategy recommended that a Bush Fire Risk Management Plan for Splitters Creek, that documents all treatments and activities that seek to manage bush fire risk, be prepared in consultation with the NSW RFS prior to any rezoning being undertaken in Splitters Creek.

A Preliminary Draft Bush Fire Risk Management Plan (Preliminary Draft Plan) has subsequently been prepared by AlburyCity in consultation with the NSW RFS and is included in **Appendix C**.

A summary of the Preliminary Draft Bush Fire Risk Management Plan content and subject matter are detailed below.

The *Splitters Creek* – *Bush Fire Risk Management Plan* (Preliminary Draft Plan) primarily documents all treatments, land management activities and actions undertaken and/or proposed by AlburyCity Council, other responsible agencies and person(s) to manage bush fire risk in Splitters Creek.

It is noted that the Preliminary Draft Plan defers to the *Hume Zone Bush Fire Risk Management Plan* (January 2015) in relation to investigations completed and documented, outlined as follows:

- establishing a context (clear understanding of, and agreement on the nature and scope of the issues to be solved);
- identifying the risks (describing the nature and scope of the bush fire hazard, the community and the environment within which the bush fire risk occurs);
- analysing risks (identifying the level of vulnerability of the community and/or environment to the identified hazards); and
- evaluation of risks (identified risks are prioritised and levels of acceptability for each risk are determined).

In addition to the abovementioned investigations, the Preliminary Draft Plan audits and documents treatments, land management activities and actions (inclusive of hazard reduction works, community education campaigns and property planning measures) undertaken to manage and reduce the risk of bush fire in Splitters Creek.

A Preliminary Draft Plan incorporating preliminary NSW RFS feedback and additional investigations relating to addressing access/egress requirements and determining the adequacy of water supply systems for bush firefighting purposes has been prepared.

At this time, AlburyCity is still in liaison with the NSW RFS in relation to the Preliminary Draft Plan for the purposes of refining and finalising document content and subject matter.

Accordingly, it is recommended that consultation with NSW RFS be undertaken and documented in accordance with Section 11 of this Planning Proposal relating to agency consultation processes and any condition(s) of the Gateway Determination.

It is acknowledged that the preparation, finalisation and subsequent endorsement of the Preliminary Draft Plan (by NSW RFS) provides a demonstration of land capability in Splitters Creek with respect to bush fire planning matters.

A detailed assessment and consideration of matters regarding bushfire has also been undertaken against Section 117(2) Direction 4.4 as contained within **Table 3** of Appendix A.

Matters regarding bushfire impacts within Table Top have also been assessed, but are considered low in this instance due to the low bushfire hazard rating of this land. Notwithstanding, any subsequent development proposals will be subject to normal bushfire referral requirements under s.100B of the *Rural Fires Act 1993*.

9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects?

As outlined above, the proposal seeks to create opportunities for rural lifestyle and large lot residential purposes, whilst protecting productive agricultural pursuits and preserving future urban development opportunities. Following review, it is considered that the Planning Proposal will have an overall positive social and economic impact upon the wider Albury area as detailed below.

It is reiterated that during the preparation of the *Draft Albury Local Environmental Plan 2010*, Council introduced controls to prevent any further subdivision in these rural areas by placing them into a 'holding pattern' pending further investigations in recognition of potential land use conflicts, impacts on existing agricultural pursuits, protection of future urban development opportunities, and environmental impacts. In Splitters Creek, the former Rural Living areas were rezoned RU4 Primary Production Small Lots with an 80 hectare minimum lot size or E3 Environmental Management with a 100 hectare minimum lot size. In Table Top, these areas were zoned RU4 with a 40 hectare minimum lot size.

During public exhibition of the *Draft Albury Local Environmental Plan 2010* numerous submissions were received opposing the zoning and minimum lot size changes on the basis that subdivision opportunities would be reduced/removed ('locked up') for an indeterminate number of years.

Accordingly, the purpose of preparing the Rural Lands Strategy was to inform future planning decisions and provide the framework for statutory planning controls, which will give local communities, developers and other investor's greater certainty and confidence about future development in the Table Top and Splitters Creek areas, particularly in relation to reinstating rural lifestyle housing outcomes housing outcomes into the rural landscape of Splitters Creek and Table Top.

One of the key components of the Rural Lands Strategy was the preparation of a land supply and demand analysis to determine the amount of additional lots that could be supported within these areas. The preparation of this analysis was undertaken against a number of factors such as existing levels of supply and demand in both Albury and surrounding LGA's, infrastructure provision/upgrade requirements, social, amenity and environmental impacts as well as consideration of natural hazards.

Splitters Creek

In sum, the Rural Lands Strategy seeks to increase the level of supply of rural residential lots in Splitters Creek by 44 lots. This is a 38% increase compared to the current dwelling stock in the area and will provide approximately 20.9 years of vacant land supply based on an historical takeup rate of 2 lots per annum.

The recommended settlement plan as proposed within the Rural Lands Strategy, and as sought by this Planning Proposal has been prepared following detailed consultation and engagement with landowners and relevant government agencies/public authorities. It is noted that a number of submissions were received during the public exhibition period both opposing the level of development proposed within Splitters Creek, as well as seeking additional development outcomes within this same area.

As a consequence, the Rural Lands Strategy was subsequently revised post exhibition to better balance the competing needs of landowners within the area and provide additional modest subdivision development opportunities in appropriate locations that seek to minimise environmental impacts and address hazards (bushfire), whilst preserving the rural amenity.

Table Top

Similarly, the Rural Lands Strategy seeks to increase the level of supply of rural residential lots in Table Top by 367 lots. This is a substantial increase compared to the current dwelling stock in the area and will provide approximately 35.2 years of vacant land supply based on an historical takeup rate of 10 lots per annum.

It is acknowledged that settlement pattern recommendations and resultant proposed changes to land zoning and minimum lot size provisions will create a significant release of rural lifestyle lands in Table Top. The clear identification of rural residential/rural lifestyle growth areas is considered appropriate on the basis that this change provides greater certainty and confidence regarding long term land uses and minimises opportunities for future land use conflicts.

It is noted that proposed changes do not prevent existing agricultural practices from continuing. Importantly, however the proposed changes will restrict any potential intensification of activities that would otherwise conflict with future planned rural residential/rural lifestyle development.

The social and economic impacts of such a large change in land zoning and minimum lot size provisions could be substantial, and accordingly, were previously investigated as part of the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy. In particular, the recommended settlement pattern seeks to balance a variety of factors including: existing land fragmentation, current agricultural activities, protect urban growth opportunities, environmental impacts, environmental hazards, land use conflicts, the level of land supply and demand and any impacts upon infrastructure provision.

Accordingly, the Rural Lands Strategy identifies and promotes principles for sustainable rural residential development through housing provision in appropriate locations that are reflective of existing environmental constraints, will not compromise existing and ongoing agricultural pursuits and other industries and not impose uneconomic demands on service and infrastructure provision.

It is further noted that the land use zoning and minimum lot size recommendations as contained within this Planning Proposal, for the most part, generally seek to reinstate (where appropriate) previous subdivision opportunities available under the former Hume Shire and provide greater certainty to landowners regarding the development potential of land.

It is also noted that there will be no adverse impacts placed upon social infrastructure such as schools and hospitals, in both Splitters Creek and Table Top, as there is capacity within existing facilities to accommodate the additional growth. Furthermore, the proposed development outcomes sought by this Planning Proposal will not place undue pressures on existing utilities and infrastructure (roads, water, sewer etc) subject to several minor upgrade works.

Likewise, the proposed change in land use zoning and minimum lot size provisions will not adversely affect items or places of European or Aboriginal Cultural Heritage significance as there are no identified items or places of heritage significance located within the subject land.

Accordingly, the rezoning and reduction in minimum lot size provisions of rural land reflects previous Council commitments to investigate the development potential of land for future long term urban and rural lifestyle development opportunities, whilst balancing the social, economic and environmental impacts of development. As a consequence, AlburyCity is now seeking to rezone the subject land as discussed earlier and as per the recommendations of **Figures 1-4** of this Planning Proposal.

The implications of not proceeding with this Planning Proposal could be extensive, as this will leave landowners within a 'holding pattern' for an indeterminate amount of time, which will create uncertainty as to the long-term development potential of land, which could have an adverse social and economic impact upon Council and the wider Albury and surrounding area.

Section D - State and Commonwealth interests

10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?

The Planning Proposal is seeking to rezone land from rural to rural residential/large lot residential in both Table Top & Splitters Creek. These areas are already currently serviced by existing infrastructure including roads, telecommunications and electricity, with both areas also serviced with bottled gas.

Given the location of the subject areas on Albury's fringes and the size of the current and proposed lots (2ha+), it is noted that no reticulated sewer will be provided to these areas as the size of these lots allows for the on-site disposal of sewer (such as septic or aerated). Matters regarding water supply have also been considered and are appropriate in this instance as a reticulated water supply system is currently available to large parts of Table Top (subject to augmentations/upgrades). It is noted however that no reticulated water supply system is proposed for Splitters Creek as this area is already serviced by a number of existing private water supply schemes.

Notwithstanding the above, one of the key outputs of the Rural Lands Strategy was the preparation of an Infrastructure Plan to help identify the necessary infrastructure provisions (including costs and sequencing) to accommodate the settlement pattern as recommended by the Rural Lands Strategy as implemented by this Planning Proposal, as well as any opportunities to fund the proposed works (developer contributions, council budgets etc).

In sum, the Infrastructure Plan has identified a number of intersection upgrades and bushfire management and road widening works that need to be undertaken in Splitters Creek to accommodate the proposed additional rural lifestyle development (as recommended).

Similarly, the Plan identified a number of water main, water reservoir and road and pedestrian upgrades that need to be undertaken in Table Top to accommodate the proposed additional rural lifestyle development (as recommended).

These works have been appropriately costed and staged in the Rural Lands Strategy and will form part of Council's future budgets. In addition, the subject Planning Proposal does not create any additional demands upon designated state public infrastructure.

Therefore the proposed amendments to land use zoning and minimum lot size provisions are considered satisfactory in this instance with regards to infrastructure, as it will not create any uneconomic or unreasonable demands upon infrastructure.

11. What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in accordance with the gateway determination?

No formal consultation has been carried out at this stage with any State and/or Commonwealth Public Authorities or service providers in relation to the Planning Proposal. Notwithstanding, any consultation requirements will occur in accordance with the Gateway Determination.

Nonetheless, a number of public authorities, government agencies and service providers have already been consulted with regards to the proposed amendments to land use zoning and minimum lot size provisions, as part of the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy. A list of the agencies that were consulted is provided below:

- NSW Department of Planning & Environment;
- NSW Office of Environment & Heritage;
- NSW Primary Industries;
- NSW Roads & Maritime Service;
- NSW Murray Local Land Services;
- NSW Rural Fire Service;
- Essential Energy Electricity; and
- APA Group Gas

These agencies were consulted during the initial scoping of the Rural Lands Strategy in November 2014 and were then further consulted prior to and during the formal public exhibition of the Rural Lands Strategy in May 2015. In addition, following the outcomes of a community forum, further consultation was undertaken with the NSW RFS in October 2015 in relation to ongoing concerns regarding bushfire hazards as detailed earlier in this Planning Proposal and as outlined below.

It is noted that s.117(2) *Ministerial Direction* 4.4(4) – *Planning for Bushfire Protection,* requires that where a Planning Proposal affects land identified as being bushfire prone, that consultation must be undertaken with the NSW Rural Fire Service (RFS).

As detailed throughout this Planning Proposal, the entire area of Splitters Creek and a small portion of Table Top are classified as being bushfire prone and accordingly, consultation with the NSW RFS will need to be undertaken.

It is reiterated that a *Preliminary Draft Bush Fire Risk Management Plan* has subsequently been prepared by AlburyCity in consultation with the NSW RFS and is included in **Appendix C**.

Consultation requirements with any other public authority will also be undertaken in accordance with any conditions of a Gateway Determination.

PART 4 – MAPPING

The Planning Proposal seeks to amend the following maps in ALEP 2010:

- Land Zoning Maps Sheets LZN_001, LZN_002, LZN_009 & LZN_010; and
- Lot Size Maps Sheets LSZ_001, LSZ_002, LSZ_003, LSZ_004, LSZ_005, LSZ_006, LSZ_007, LSZ_008, LSZ_009, LSZ_010 & LSZ_011.

A copy of the draft Amended Land Zoning and Lot Size Maps are contained within **Figures 2 & 3** of **Appendix B** of this Planning Proposal for information purposes.

A Map Cover Sheet has also been prepared in support of the subject Planning Proposal.

The draft LEP maps and cover sheet have been prepared in accordance with the NSW Department of Planning & Environment's: *Standard Technical Requirements for Spatial Datasets and Maps* (30 November 2015, Version 1.0).

PART 5 – COMMUNITY CONSULTATION

The Rural Lands Strategy that has informed the preparation of this Planning Proposal has involved extensive consultation with all relevant persons, landowners and government agencies/ public authorities over a 14 month period.

Notwithstanding extensive consultation undertaken to date, this Planning Proposal will be exhibited in accordance with the requirements of section 57 of the *Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979*, the NSW Department of Planning's: *A guide to preparing local environmental plans (August 2016)* and any conditions of the Gateway Determination (to be issued).

The Planning Proposal is not a 'low impact proposal' and consequently, for the purposes of public exhibition will be publicly exhibited for at least a minimum period of 28 days.

Written notification of the community consultation will be provided in a local newspaper and on Councils' website. In addition to this, any affected landowner/s will be notified in writing.

The written notice will contain:

- A brief description of the objectives or intended outcomes of the Planning Proposal;
- An indication of the land which is affected by the proposal;
- Information on where and when the Planning Proposal can be inspected;
- The name and address of Council for the receipt of submissions;
- The closing date for submissions; and
- Whether the Minister has chosen to delegate Plan Making powers to Council.

During the public exhibition period the following documents will be placed on public exhibition:

- The Planning Proposal;
- The Gateway determination;
- Relevant council reports;
- Rural Lands Strategy for Table Top and Splitters Creek;
- Splitters Creek Bush Fire Risk Management Plan (Preliminary Draft).

A number of community information sessions will be held during the public exhibition period and depending on the number of submissions received, or requests received by Council, a community forum may also be conducted.

It is reiterated that a significant amount of community consultation has already been undertaken to date in relation to the proposed change in planning controls for Table Top and Splitters Creek, as part of the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy. A summary of this consultation is provided below:

- Initial Scoping Workshop November 2014 (general public and agency);
- Public Exhibition Information Session May 2015 (general public and agency);
- Community Forum August 2015;
- Further consultation with local planning consultants & Rural Fire Service September 2015.

In total, over 230 residents and landowners attended the initial scoping workshop and information sessions with an additional 75 residents in attendance at the community forum. Overall, 40 submissions were received during the public exhibition period (including 6 from government agencies and other public authorities).

The public exhibition of this Planning Proposal provides the opportunity to reinstate rural lifestyle settlement back into both Table Top and Splitters Creek that were previously removed during the preparation of ALEP 2010, in lieu of further more detailed investigations. The public exhibition of this Planning Proposal will now provide an opportunity for further land owner, community, agency and other stakeholder engagement.

PART 6 – PROJECT TIMELINE

Table 1 provides a project timeline for the proposed amendment to ALEP 2010.

Table 1 – Project Timeline

No.	Description of Tasks	Task Commencement	Task Completion
1.	Gateway Determination Anticipated Gateway Determination (including any delegated authority)	Early November 2016	Mid-Late November 2016
2.	Public Exhibition Agency and community consultation to be undertaken as part of the formal public exhibition of the Planning Proposal in accordance with any conditions of the Gateway Determination.	Early June 2017 (Public Exhibition deferred to avoid spanning over the Christmas, New Year, School Holiday period)	Early July 2017
3.	Consider Submissions & Document Finalisation Post public exhibition, AlburyCity officers to consider, respond and report on submissions received and issues raised to Council (if any) and where necessary, recommend relevant changes to the Planning Proposal.	Early July 2017	Late July 2017
4.	Submission to the Department and/or Parliamentary Counsel RPA to forward Planning Proposal to the department and/or Parliamentary Counsel (if delegated) for finalisation following public exhibition (including any changes made)(if required).	Early August 2017	Late August 2017
5.	Notification Anticipated date LEP will be notified.	Early September 2017	Late September 2017

APPENDIX A

Table 2 – Consideration of State Environmental Planning Policies

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
1	State Environmental Planning Policy – Development Standards	No, does not apply to land in the Albury LGA since gazettal of ALEP 2010	N/A
14	State Environmental Planning Policy – Coastal Wetlands	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
19	State Environmental Planning Policy – Bushland in Urban Areas	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
21	State Environmental Planning Policy – Caravan Parks	Not applicable	N/A
26	State Environmental Planning Policy – Littoral Rainforests	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
30	State Environmental Planning Policy – Intensive Agriculture	Not applicable	Not relevant as the planning proposal does not relate to a Development Application seeking Development Consent for a cattle feedlot nor does it reduce the area of zoned land where intensive livestock agriculture is currently permitted.
33	State Environmental Planning Policy – Hazardous & Offensive Industry	Not applicable	N/A
36	State Environmental Planning Policy – Manufactured Home Estate	Not applicable	N/A
44	State Environmental Planning Policy – Koala Habitat Protection	Applicable, applies to part of the Albury LGA (formerly Hume LGA)	Compliant, the Planning Proposal does not derogate from the aims, development consent requirements and operations of plans of management relating to land of potential koala habitat and/ or core koala habitat as provided in the SEPP.

No. SEPP Title Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	It is noted that to give effect to the aims of the SEPP, any affected Councils should survey land to identify areas of potential and core koala habitat and include land identified as core koala habitat within an environmental protection zone or apply special provisions to control the development of that land. AlburyCity has undertaken significant initiatives and studies to identify land considered desirable habitat network to be retained across the Albury LGA. This habitat network is zoned environmental in ALEP 2010. The spatial determinants and land management recommendations for this habitat network have generally been based on tree cover, connectivity and are broadly based on wildlife conservation. The principal author of some of the critical studies that have either identified and/or determined methods used to identify habitat networks across the remainder of the Albury LGA (Mr Ian Davidson), has confirmed that the approach undertaken is generally consistent with the spatial determinants and land management recommendations associated with koala habitat. It is further noted that, through the preparation and gazettal of ALEP 2010, these same habitat networks have been excised from urban and rural lands as either an E2 Environmental Conservation or E3 Environmental Management Zone which is geared towards the protection, management and restoration of areas with special ecological, scientific, cultural

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
44	State Environmental Planning Policy – Koala Habitat Protection Cont.		The Planning Proposal does not derogate from ALEP 2010 with respect to the location and spatial extent of environmental zones.
			Accordingly, Council is of the view that this SEPP has been appropriately considered as part of the preparation of the Planning Proposal.
47	State Environmental Planning Policy – Moore Park Showground	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
50	State Environmental Planning Policy – Canal Estate Development	Not applicable	N/A
52	State Environmental Planning Policy – Farm Dams and Other Works in Land and Water Management Plan Areas	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
55	State Environmental Planning Policy – Remediation of Land	Yes, as the planning proposal will affect land that may be contaminated	Compliant, it is noted that the subject land may be contaminated by previous and current land use activities including agricultural/horticultural activities, sheep and cattle dip sites etc.
			A portion of the subject land located north of Perryman Lane and Burma Road in Table Top (currently zoned RU1 Primary Production) has been used for extensive agricultural purposes for at least the last 50 years. A combination of both topographical constraints, limited agricultural capabilities and proximity to existing urban and village areas has generally restricted agricultural activities to low impact uses such as extensive grazing and crop or fodder production.
			Other areas currently zoned RU4 Primary Production Small Lots also included as part of this Planning Proposal have

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
No. 55	SEPP Title State Environmental Planning Policy – Remediation of Land Cont.		Consistencyhistorically only been used for the purposes of rural lifestyle and hobby farming, rather than commercial farming activities and therefore the likelihood of
			In recognition of improbable localised contamination relating to the subject land, it is considered an appropriate response at this time to require detailed site investigations be undertaken by the land owner/ land developer as part of the development application process.

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
<i>No.</i> 62	SEPP Title State Environmental Planning Policy – Sustainable Aquaculture		Consistency Generally compliant, despite the fact that the Planning Proposal seeks to reduce the area of land zoned for either RU1 Primary Production or RU4 Primary Production Small Lots where 'aquaculture' is currently permitted. In particular, the Planning Proposal seeks to rezone land zoned RU4 Primary Production Small Lots to R5 Large Lot Residential where 'aquaculture' is prohibited, as it relates to land located north of the Riverina Highway in Splitters Creek and land located south of Table Top Road and surrounding the Lara Lakes rural residential estate in Table Top. Despite this fact, the Planning Proposal is still generally consistent with the aims, development consent, site location, operational and/or minimum performance requirements of aquaculture development as provided in the SEPP, as it still provides opportunities for sustainable aquaculture activities within Albury's RU1 and RU4 zones, which applies to a large
			portion of the rural zoned areas. Furthermore consultation was undertaken with the NSW Department of Primary Industries as part of the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy. No objection was raised by this public authority during consultation given the fact that there are no known aquaculture activities currently conducted within the Albury LGA and the fact that opportunity still remains for the establishment of this form of agricultural activity within Albury's rural areas.

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
64	State Environmental Planning Policy – Advertising & Signage	Not applicable	N/A
65	State Environmental Planning Policy – Design Quality of Residential Apartment Development	Not applicable	N/A
70	State Environmental Planning Policy – Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes)	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
71	State Environmental Planning Policy – Coastal Protection	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009	Not applicable	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004	Not applicable	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt & Complying Development Codes) 2008	Not applicable	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Housing for Seniors & People with a Disability) 2004	Not applicable	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007	Not applicable	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Integration and Repeals) 2016	Not applicable	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Kosciuszko National Park–Alpine Resorts) 2007	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Mining, Petroleum Production & Extractive Industries) 2007	Applicable	Compliant, despite the fact that extractive industries are permitted with consent in the existing RU1 Primary Production Zone, but prohibited in the proposed RU4 Rural Small Holdings and R5 Large Lot Residential Zones, as there are no existing extractive industries located within the subject land.
			Furthermore, following consultation with the NSW Department of Primary Industries undertaken pursuant to Section 62 of the EP&A Act, ALEP 2010 was revised to expand the permissibility of both mining and extractive industries across the Albury LGA where agriculture and industry may be carried out (with or without development consent) to accommodate existing known mineral resources and operations.
			Where the location of other known mineral resources and operations are at odds with the proposed zoning these sites have been protected by being inserted into Schedule 1 'Additional permitted uses' of the ALEP 2010.
			Furthermore, existing operating extractive industries were identified and protected during the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy by preventing the intensification or establishment of sensitive land uses (rural lifestyle/ hobby farming activities) in close proximity to these existing operating businesses.
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Miscellaneous Consent Provisions) 2007	Not applicable	N/A

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Rural Lands) 2008	Yes applies to the Albury LGA	Consistent, the Planning Proposal is generally consistent with the aims of this direction, being to protect the agricultural production value of rural land, to facilitate orderly and economic development of rural lands and implement measures to reduce land use conflicts.
			In addition, the Planning Proposal does not derogate from the rural planning and subdivision principles in SEPP (Rural Lands) that seek to assist the proper management, development and protection of rural lands, reduce land use conflicts and promote social, economic and environmental welfare.
			In support of this Planning Proposal, a detailed consideration and response against the planning and subdivision principles of this SEPP has been provided in the Rural Lands Strategy and Appendix A of the Rural Lands Strategy Background Report.
			This supporting document prepared by RMCG undertook an agricultural capability assessment, rural lands survey and land use conflict risk assessment to support the proposed zoning and minimum lot size recommendations as outlined within the Rural Lands Strategy consistent with the objectives of this SEPP
			Notwithstanding the above, an abbreviated response in relation to SEPP (Rural Lands) rural planning and subdivision principles is outlined as follows:
			 the land is not identified as state significant agricultural land,

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Rural Lands) 2008 Cont.		 Proposed zoning and minimum lot size changes reflect existing agricultural trends (including land fragmentation, climate change, declining terms of trade, absence of an irrigated water supply etc.) land use activities and development patterns and will facilitate the orderly and economic development of rural lands at densities that will avoid potential land use conflict, rural zonings, minimum lot sizes and permissible land uses have been retained across parts of Albury's rural areas to protect current agricultural enterprises whilst at the same time creating opportunities for new more productive and sustainable economic pursuits including horticulture, Independent agricultural and rural planning advice has concluded that 40ha is a viable minimum lot size for more intensive agricultural uses such as horticulture, the identification and protection of natural resources, having regard to maintaining biodiversity, the protection of native vegetation, the importance of water resources and avoiding constrained land has been accommodated through the Rural Lands Strategy and previous studies that have guided zoning decisions under ALEP 2010 resulting in a net gain in environmental zoned land across the Albury LGA; and
			draft Riverina Murray Regional Plan which recognises a low agricultural base in an Albury context.

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	State Environmental Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) 2011	Not applicable	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (State Significant Precincts) 2005	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 2011	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 2006	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Three Ports) 2013	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Urban Renewal) 2010	Not applicable	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Western Sydney Employment Area) 2009	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	State Environmental Planning Policy (Western Sydney Parklands) 2009	No, does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
	Murray Regional Environmental Plan No. 2 – Riverine Land (Deemed SEPP)	Yes, applicable as it relates to land located within the boundaries of Murray REP No. 2	Consistent as the Planning Proposal does not derogate from the aims, objectives, development consent, general and specific planning principles and consultation requirements as provided in the REP and will have a negligible impact upon the Riverine environment.
			It is noted that this deemed SEPP only applies to a portion of Splitters Creek. Notwithstanding, given the relatively low levels of development that could be achieved within this area under the

No.	SEPP Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency		
	Murray Regional Environmental Plan No. 2 – Riverine Land (Deemed SEPP) Cont.		proposed planning controls (up to 44 rural lifestyle lots) and its distance from the Murray River, the Planning Proposal is considered generally consistent with the requirements of this SEPP as it will not have an adverse impact upon the Riverine environment of the Murray River.		
No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency		
-------	--------------------------------	---	---	--	--
1. Em	1. Employment and Resources				
1.1	Business & Industrial Zones	Not applicable	N/A		
1.2	Rural Zones	Yes, as the Planning Proposal will affect land within an existing rural zone	Direction 4(a) Despite the provisions of this Direction, the Planning Proposal seeks to rezone a portion of land from a rural zone to a residential zone, being the R5 Large Lot Residential zone.		
			Direction 4(b) It is noted that the Albury (former part Hume) LGA where the subject land is located has not been listed amongst those LGAs where this direction applies. Consequently, compliance with this direction is not required.		
			Although the land zoning and minimum lot size changes as recommended within the subject Planning Proposal are inconsistent with Clause 4(a) of this Direction, this is considered satisfactory in this instance as they have been appropriately justified via the preparation of a supporting endorsed Strategy, being the Rural Lands Strategy.		
			The Rural Lands Strategy was prepared over a 14 month period and involved extensive consultation with all relevant landowners and government agencies/ public authorities.		
			This Strategy was subsequently endorsed by the NSW Department of Planning & Environment on 17 August 2016 and forms the basis for the subject Planning Proposal.		
			It is also noted that the preparation of this Planning Proposal is consistent with the objectives of the draft Riverina Murray Regional Plan as it applies to Albury.		

Table 3 – Consideration of Section 117(2) Ministerial Directions

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
1.3	Mining, Petroleum Production & Extractive Industries	Applicable	Justifiably inconsistent, despite the fact that extractive industries are permitted with consent in the existing RU1 Primary Production Zone however, prohibited in the proposed RU4 Rural Small Holdings and R5 Large Lot Residential zones, as there are no existing extractive industries located within the subject land which renders outcomes sought by this Planning Proposal to be of minor significance. Furthermore, following consultation with the NSW Department of Industry and Investment (formerly known as the NSW Department of Primary Industries) undertaken pursuant to Section 62 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 the ALEP 2010 was revised to expand the permissibility of both mining and extractive industries across the Albury LGA where agriculture and industry may be carried out (with or without development consent) to accommodate existing known mineral resources and operations. Where the location of other known mineral resources and operations are at odds with the proposed zoning these sites have been protected by being inserted into Schedule 1 'Additional permitted uses' of the ALEP 2010. Furthermore, existing operating extractive industries were identified and protected during the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy by preventing the intensification or establishment of sensitive land uses (rural lifestyle/ hobby farming activities) in close proximity to these existing operating businesses to allow for their ongoing operation.

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
1.4	Oyster Aquaculture	Not applicable	N/A
1.5	Rural Lands	Yes, as the Planning Proposal will affect land within an existing rural zone	Direction 3(a) The Planning Proposal seeks to rezone land within an existing rural zone to a residential zone, being the R5 Large Lot Residential zone.
			Direction 3(b) The Planning Proposal seeks to reduce the existing minimum lot size on land within a rural zone.
			Although the land zoning and minimum lot size changes as recommended within the subject Planning Proposal are inconsistent with Clauses 3(a) and 3(b) of this Direction, this is considered satisfactory in this instance as the proposal has taken into consideration the Rural Planning and Rural Subdivision Principles listed in SEPP (Rural Lands)(see above for further details).
			Notwithstanding, the subject Planning Proposal may be inconsistent with the terms of this Direction and have been appropriately justified via the preparation of a supporting Strategy, being the Rural Lands Strategy.
			The Rural Lands Strategy was prepared over a 14 month period and involved extensive consultation with all relevant landowners and government agencies/ public authorities.
			This Strategy was subsequently endorsed by the NSW Department of Planning & Environment on 17 August 2016 and forms the basis for the subject Planning Proposal.

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
2. En	vironment and Heritage		
2. En 2.1	vironment and Heritage Environmental Protection Zones	Yes, as the planning proposal affects land identified for environment protection purposes	Consistent, as previous city-wide strategic planning documentation (including the <i>Thurgoona Threatened Species</i> <i>Conservation Strategy 2004, Albury</i> <i>Ranges Threatened Species Conservation</i> <i>Strategy 2006</i> and the <i>draft Natural Assets</i> <i>Strategy</i>) has identified land considered desirable habitat network to be retained across the Albury LGA. This habitat network is zoned environmental in ALEP 2010. The spatial determinants and land management recommendations associated within the retained and desirable habitat network have generally been based on tree cover, connectivity and are broadly based on wildlife conservation. It is further noted that, through the preparation and gazettal of ALEP 2010, these same habitat networks have been excised from urban and rural lands as either an E2 Environmental Conservation or E3 Environmental Management Zone, which is geared towards the protection, management and restoration of areas with special ecological, scientific, cultural or aesthetic value. In addition, during the preparation of the
			In addition, during the preparation of the recently endorsed Rural Lands Strategy, detailed consideration was given to the environmental impacts of development located within environmentally sensitive areas. One of the primary aims of this Strategy was to minimise the
			environmental impacts of development by considering appropriate minimum lot sizes, hazard reduction requirements and any associated or likely vegetation losses associated with more intensive forms of land development.

Na	Dive sting Title	Augliochtete	Quantization and
No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
2.1	Environmental Protection Zones Cont.		Therefore the Planning Proposal does not derogate from ALEP 2010 with respect to the location and spatial extent of environmental zones. Accordingly, there will be no change in the protection or conservation of environmentally sensitive areas as a consequence of this Planning Proposal.
2.2	Coastal Protection	No (does not apply to land in Albury LGA)	N/A
2.3	Heritage Conservation	Yes, applies to all Relevant Planning Authorities where a Planning Proposal is prepared	Consistent, Planning Proposal does not alter or derogate from the heritage conservation controls contained in clause 5.10 of ALEP 2010 that seeks to facilitate the conservation of items, areas, objects and places of environmental heritage significance, which is consistent with the objective of this direction.
2.4	Recreation Vehicle Areas	Not applicable	N/A
2.5	Application of E2 and E3 Zones and Environmental Overlays in Far North Coast LEPs	Not applicable, as it does not apply to the Albury LGA	N/A
3. Ho	using, Infrastructure and	Urban Development	
3.1	Residential Zones	Yes, as the planning proposal will affect land within a residential zone	 Consistent, as the Planning Proposal seeks to rezone a portion of rural land to R5 Large Lot Residential, which supports the objectives of this Direction as outlined below: the proposal will encourage a wider variety and choice of housing types and densities within the Albury area through an increased supply of rural residential and large lot residential lots (2ha minimum lot size) for the existing and
			future household needs of Albury residents.

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
3.1	Residential Zones Cont.		 by rezoning land on Albury's fringe for rural residential and large lot residential purposes, this make more efficient use of existing infrastructure and services (subject to minor infrastructure upgrades) without placing undue constraints or financial pressures on Council.
			 the planning proposal does not seek to rezone any land identified for environment protection purposes. During the preparation of the recently endorsed Rural Lands Strategy, detailed consideration was given to the environmental impacts of development located within environmentally sensitive areas. One of the primary aims of this Strategy was to minimise the environmental impacts of development by considering appropriate minimum lot sizes, hazard reduction requirements and any associated or likely vegetation losses associated with more intensive forms of land development; and
			 the proposed location of rural residential development reflects the existing level of land fragmentation that has already occurred under previous planning instruments, whilst protecting long term urban development opportunities from further land fragmentation.
			The proposed land use and minimum lot size recommendations have been supported via the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy, which included a land supply and demand analysis. This Strategy was subsequently endorsed by the NSW Department of Planning & Environment on 17 August 2016.

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
3.2	Caravan Parks & Manufactured Home Estates	Not applicable	N/A
3.3	Home Occupations	Not applicable	N/A
3.4	Integrating Land Use and Transport	Yes because the planning proposal affects urban land zoned including land zoned for residential, business, industrial, village or tourist purposes.	Consistent because the planning proposal has regard for the two DUAP documents referenced in this Direction and only seeks to rezone land for rural residential and large lot residential purposes. It is noted that the subject land is already serviced by existing road infrastructure and will be supported by a number of road improvement upgrades (road widening) as identified within the Rural Lands Strategy.
3.5	Development Near Licensed Aerodromes	Not applicable	N/A
3.6	Shooting Ranges	Not applicable	N/A
4. Ha	zard and Risk		
4.1	Acid Sulphate Soils	No (does not apply to land in the Albury LGA)	N/A
4.2	Mine Subsidence & Unstable Land	No (does not apply to land in the Albury LGA)	N/A
4.3	Flood Prone Land	Not applicable	N/A
4.4	Planning for Bushfire Protection	Yes because the planning proposal affects land classified as bushfire prone land	The Planning Proposal is generally consistent with the objectives of this Direction being to protect life, property and the environment from bush fire hazards despite proposing additional development on land classified as being bushfire prone. It is acknowledged that this Direction applies as the entire area of Splitters Creek and a small portion of Table Top are classified as being bushfire prone.

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	Planning for Bushfire Protection Cont.		Although during the preparation of the Rural Lands Strategy the NSW RFS did not oppose the proposed settlement plan recommendations of this Strategy, it did identify Splitters Creek as having a pre- existing 'very high' bush fire risk rating, and consequently, emphasises that any potential increase in population needs to be managed carefully with respect to bush fire. Accordingly, modest settlement pattern recommendations (38% growth) have already, to a large extent, responded to the existing bush fire risk by confining higher densities to areas lower in the catchment that benefit from proximity to the Riverina Highway for emergency access/egress purposes. Whilst higher in the catchment in more isolated parts of Splitters Creek, lower densities (4-8ha minimum lot sizes) have been proposed to assist in limiting future resident exposure to existing bush fire risk. Also, the larger recommended lot sizes (2-8ha) are considered sufficiently large enough to accommodate a regime of proposed bush fire protection measures relating to access/egress, asset protection zones and defendable space/s. In addition, the Rural Lands Strategy recommended that a Bush Fire Risk Management Plan for Splitters Creek, that documents all treatments and activities that seek to manage bush fire risk, be prepared in consultation with the NSW RFS prior to any rezoning being undertaken in Splitters Creek.

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	Planning for Bushfire Protection Cont.		A Preliminary Draft Bush Fire Risk Management Plan for Splitters Creek (Preliminary Draft Plan) has subsequently been prepared by AlburyCity in consultation with the NSW RFS and is included in Appendix C . A summary of the Preliminary Draft Plan content and subject matter are detailed below. The Splitters Creek – Bush Fire Risk Management Plan (Preliminary Draft) primarily documents all treatments, land management activities and actions undertaken and/or proposed by Albury City Council, other responsible agencies and person(s) to manage bush fire risk in Splitters Creek.
			 It is noted that the Preliminary Draft Plan defers to the Hume Zone Bush Fire Risk Management Plan (January 2015) in relation to investigations completed and documented, outlined as follows: establishing a context (clear understanding of, and agreement on the nature and scope of the issues to be solved); identifying the risks (describing the nature and scope of the bush fire hazard, the community and the environment within which the bush fire risk occurs); analysing risks (identifying the level of vulnerability of the community and/or environment to the identified hazards); evaluation of risks (identified risks are prioritised, levels of acceptability for each risk are determined);

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	Planning for Bushfire Protection Cont.		In addition to above listed investigations, the Preliminary Draft Plan audits and documents treatments, land management activities and actions (inclusive of hazard reduction works, community education campaigns and property planning measures) undertaken to manage and reduce the risk of bush fire in Splitters Creek.
			It is noted that, being a Preliminary Draft Plan document, some additional investigations relating to addressing access/egress requirements and determining the adequacy of water supply for bush fire fighting purposes are still to be undertaken and incorporated.
			At this time, AlburyCity is still in liaison with the NSW RFS in relation to the Preliminary Draft Plan for the purposes of refining and finalising document content and subject matter.
			Accordingly, in the absence of the Draft Preliminary Plan (inclusive of NSW RFS feedback and those investigations required to address access/egress requirements and confirm the adequacy of water supply for bush firefighting purposes) being finalised, it is recommended that such investigations be completed and documented within the Draft Preliminary Plan prior to any public exhibition of the Planning Proposal.
			It is acknowledged that the preparation, finalisation and subsequent endorsement of the Preliminary Draft Plan (by NSW RFS) provides a critical demonstration of land capability in Splitters Creek with respect to bush fire matters.

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency
	Planning for Bushfire Protection		Matters regarding bushfire impacts within Table Top have also been assessed, but are considered low in this instance due to the low bushfire hazard rating of this land.
	Cont.		Notwithstanding, any subsequent development proposals will be subject to normal bushfire referral requirements under s.100B of the <i>Rural Fires Act 1993</i> .
5. Re	gional Planning		
5.1	Implementation of Regional Strategies	No (there is no gazetted regional strategy applicable to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A
5.2	Sydney Drinking Water Catchment	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A
5.3	Farmland of State & Regional Significance on the NSW Far North Coast	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A
5.4	Commercial and Retail Development along the Pacific Highway, North Coast	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A
5.5	Development in the Vicinity of Ellalong, Paxton and Millfield (Cessnock LGA) (Revoked 18 June 2010)	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A
5.6	Sydney to Canberra Corridor (Revoked 10 July 2008. See amended Direction 5.1)	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A
5.7	Central Coast (Revoked 10 July 2008. See amended Direction 5.1)	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A
5.8	Second Sydney Airport: Badgerys Creek	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to	Consistency
		Planning Proposal	-
5.9	North West Rail Link Corridor Strategy	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A
5.10	Implementation of Regional Plans	Yes because the draft Riverina Murray Regional Plan has been released by the Minister	Consistent, as the Planning Proposal does not derogate from the vision, land use strategy, goals, directions and actions contained within the <i>Draft Riverina Murray</i> <i>Regional Plan</i> , being the relevant Regional Plan for the Albury LGA. The four key goals of the Draft Riverina Murray Regional Plan include:
			 Goal 1 – A Growing Economy supported by productive agricultural and sustainable use of natural resources;
			 Goal 2 – Improved regional transport networks and utility infrastructure to support economic activity;
			 Goal 3 – Strong Regional Cities supported by a network of liveable towns and villages;
			 Goal 4 – A protected environment and a community resilient to natural hazards and climate change.
			A response against relevant goals, directions and actions contained within this Draft Regional Plan is provided in Part 3, Section B – Item 3 of this Planning Proposal.
6. Lo	cal Plan Making		
6.1	Approval and Referral Requirements	Yes, applies to all relevant Planning Authorities	Consistent, as the Planning Proposal is not proposing to add any provisions which require the referral of Development Applications to the Minister or a public authority.

No.	Direction Title	Applicable to Planning Proposal	Consistency	
	Approval and Referral Requirements Cont.		Notwithstanding, it is noted that the subject Planning Proposal does seek to provide for additional subdivision opportunities within Albury's rural areas that are currently mapped as bushfire prone land.	
			Accordingly, the further development of this land will trigger the requirements of s.91 of the <i>Environmental Planning &</i> <i>Assessment Act 1979</i> and will require referral to the NSW Rural Fire Service as an 'Integrated Development' for the issuing of General Terms of Approval.	
			This is considered to be generally consistent with the objectives of this Direction in this instance as the Rural Lands Strategy and subsequent Planning Proposal have both been prepared in consultation with the NSW RFS via the preparation of a Bush Fire Risk Management Plan (see Appendix C).	
6.2	Reserving Land for Public Purposes	Not applicable	N/A	
6.3	Site Specific Provisions	Not applicable	Note relevant, as the proposal does not propose any site specific planning controls.	
7. Metropolitan Planning				
7.1	Implementation of A Plan for Growing Sydney	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A	
7.2	Implementation of Greater Macarthur Land Release Investigation	No (does not apply to the AlburyCity LGA)	N/A	

APPENDIX B

Figure 1 – Locality Plan



Figure 2 – Land Zoning Maps (As Amended)









Figure 3 – Lot Size Maps (As Amended)























TE OF VICTORIA	

APPENDIX C

Rural Lands Strategy for Table Top & Splitters Creek (Main Report)

This document has been posted separately on the AlburyCity exhibition webpage attributed to file size constraints.

Rural Lands Strategy for Table Top & Splitters Creek (Background Report)

This document has been posted separately on the AlburyCity exhibition webpage attributed to file size constraints.

Splitters Creek – Bush Fire Risk Management Plan (Preliminary Draft)

This document has been posted separately on the AlburyCity exhibition webpage attributed to file size constraints.

APPENDIX D

Table 1: Land affected by the proposed amendments to the Land Zoning Map and Lot Size Map

Part A: Splitters Creek

107 410 75 3080 107 410 75 3080 107 12 05 3080 107 500 77 707 107 12 05 3080 107 500 76 526 107 12 05 3080 107 500 76 526 107 12 05 3080 107 500 76 526 107 12 05 3080 107 510 76 526 107 12 05 3080 107 510 76 526 107 12 05 3080 107 510 76 526 107 12 05 3080 107 510 76 526 107 12 05 3080 107 510 76 5268 107 12 05 3080 107 510 76 5268 107 12 05 103 77 107 520 76 300 107 12 05 103 77 107 520 76 300 107 12 05 103 70 107 510 76 5260 107 12 05 103 70 107 510 76 5000 107 12 05 100 70 107 510 76 5000 107 10 70 100 71 107 100 107 510 76 5000 107 10 70 71 107 100 107 510 76 5000 107 10 70 71 107 100 107 510 76 5000 107 10 70 71 107 100 107 510 76 5000 107 10 70 71 107 100 107 510 76 5000 107 10 76 5000 107 510 76 5000 107 10 76 5000 107 510 76 5000 107 10 76 5000 107 510 76 5000	Lot & Deposited Plan	Part Lot & Deposited Plan
107 107 807 807 807 107 107 807 800 107 107 107 107 807 800 107 107 107 107 807 800 107 107 107 107 107 107 807 800 107	LOT: 3 DP: 598070	LOT: 80 DP: 609254
LGT 3.8 P. 92202 LGT 4.0 P. 93607 LGT 3.6 P. 94200 LGT 3.0 P. 95307 LGT 3.6 P. 94200 LGT 3.6 P. 94200 LGT 3.6 P. 94303 LGT 3.6 P. 94203 LGT 3.6 P. 94304 LGT 1.6 P. 95203 LGT 3.6 P. 94304 LGT 1.6 P. 94203 LGT 3.6 P. 94304 LGT 1.6 P. 94203 LGT 3.6 P. 94304 LGT 1.6 P. 94204 LGT 3.6 P. 94304 LGT 3.6 P. 94304 LGT 3.6 P. 94304		
LGT 10P 11388 LOT: 200 P.15587 LGT 10P 124000 LOT: 10P 12608 LGT 50P 74400 LOT: 10P 12698 LGT 50P 110779 LOT: 10P 12698 LGT 50P 110789 LOT: 10P 12698 LGT 50P 126980 LOT: 10P		
IOP 7.09: 8460 IOP 8470 IOP 7.30: 78400 IOP 7419: 78400 IOP 7.30: 78400 IOP 7419: 785866 IOP 740: 78400 IOP 7419: 78586 IOP 740: 78780 IOP 74000	LOT: 1 DP: 112892	
IOT 50P 24400 IOT 42 DP 38843 IOT 42 DP 38443 IOT 41 DP 198844 IOT 42 DP 38443 IOT 41 DP 198844 IOT 10P 198957 IOT 30P 78913 IOT 10P 198957 IOT 30P 38833 IOT 10P 199957 IOT 30P 38834 IOT 10P 199957 IOT 30P 38836 IOT 10P 199957 IOT 30P 38836 IOT 10P 199957 IOT 30P 38836 IOT 10P 19997 IOT 30P 38836 IOT 10P 19997 IOT 30P 38837 IOT 10P 19997 IOT 30P 38837 IOT 10P 19987 IOT 10P 199877 IOT 10P 19987 IOT 30P 38837 IOT 10P 19987 IOT 10P 199877 IOT 10P 19987 IOT 10P 199877 IOT 10P 19987 IOT 10P 199877 IOT 10P 19987 IOT 10P 199878 IOT 10P 199878 IOT 10P 199878		
IOT 20 PF:58248 IOT 41 UP:58068 IOT 32 DF:58248 IOT 51 DF:58068 IOT 10P:195973 IOT 52 DF:58534 IOT 10P:195973 IOT 52 DF:58534 IOT 52 DF:58534 IOT 52 DF:58534 IOT 52 DF:58535 IOT 52 DF:58534 IOT 52 DF:58536 IOT 10F:55057 IOT 10DF:157586 IOT 52 DF:58058 IOT 10DF:157586 IOT 10DF:15758 IOT 10DF:157586 IOT 10DF:15758 IOT 10DF:157586 IOT 10DF:15758 <t< td=""><td>LOT: 3 DP: 244000</td><td>LOT: 4 DP: 809746</td></t<>	LOT: 3 DP: 244000	LOT: 4 DP: 809746
IOT: 30 PF: 74654 IOT: 31 PF: 74654 IOT: 40 PF: 76856 IOT: 131 PF: 789113 IOT: 10 PF: 78957 IOT: 10 PF: 78954 IOT: 10 PF: 78956 IOT: 10 PF: 78956 IOT: 10 PF: 78956 IOT: 10 PF: 78967 IOT: 10 PF: 78957 IOT: 10 PF: 78967 IOT: 10 PF: 78967 IOT: 10 PF: 78967 IOT: 20 PF: 18958 IOT: 20 PF: 18958 IOT: 20 PF: 18958 IOT: 20 PF: 78968 IOT: 20 PF: 78968 IOT: 20 PF: 78978 IOT: 20 PF: 789786 IOT: 20 PF: 78978		
LGT: 4DP 108880 LGT: 131 DP 789118 LGT: 1DP 108807 LGT: 2DP 789119 LGT: 1DP 108077 LGT: 2DP 789184 LGT: 1DP 108077 LGT: 2DP 789184 LGT: 1DP 108077 LGT: 2DP 789184 LGT: 1DP 108077 LGT: 2DP 789837 LGT: 1DP 10708 LGT: 2DP 789837 LGT: 1DP 10709 LGT: 2DP 789877 LGT: 1DP 10708 LGT: 2DP 789878 LGT: 1DP 10708 LGT: 2DP 789879 LGT: 1DP 10708 LGT: 2DP 789879 LGT: 2DP 108874 LGT: 2DP 789879 LGT: 2DP 108881 LGT: 2DP 789879 LGT: 2DP 113884 LGT: 2DP 789879 LGT: 2DP 11371 LGT: 2DP 789879 LGT: 2DP 113884 LGT: 2DP 789874 LGT: 2DP 11371 LGT: 2DP 78792 LGT: 2DP 11371 LGT: 2DP 78793 LGT: 2DP 11371 LGT: 2DP 78793 LGT: 2DP 110772 LGT: 2DP 789748		
IOT: 10P: 106507 IOT: 120P: 78913 IOT: 10P: 56970 IOT: 10P: 56934 IOT: 10P: 109179 IOT: 10P: 159835 IOT: 10P: 109179 IOT: 10P: 159855 IOT: 10P: 109779 IOT: 10P: 159855 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109865 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109867 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109780 IOT: 10P: 109867 IOT: 10P: 109868 IOT: 10P: 109867 IOT: 10P: 109869 IOT: 10P: 109863 IOT: 10P: 109869 IOT: 10P: 109863 IOT: 10P: 109877 IOT: 10P: 109863 IOT: 10P: 109877 IOT: 10P: 1098783 IOT: 10P: 1098784 IOT: 10P: 1098784 IOT: 10P: 1098784 IOT: 10P: 1098784 IOT: 10P: 1098784 </td <td></td> <td></td>		
LOT: 10P: 598073 LOT: 30P: 58834 LOT: 42P: 58804 LOT: 40P: 58804 LOT: 40P: 100779 LOT: 40P: 58804 LOT: 10P: 10078 LOT: 10P: 10079 LOT: 10P: 10079 LOT: 10P: 10079		
LOT: 2.0P: 58873 LOT: 2.0P: 58855 LOT: 1.0P: 17132 LOT: 1.0P: 58855 LOT: 1.0P: 17132 LOT: 1.0P: 58855 LOT: 1.0P: 17132 LOT: 1.0P: 58857 LOT: 1.0P: 58857 LOT: 1.0P: 58857 LOT: 1.0P: 113686 LOT: 1.0P: 58857 LOT: 1.0P: 113686 LOT: 1.0P: 58857 LOT: 1.0P: 113686 LOT: 1.0P: 58857 LOT: 2.0P: 2.44000 LOT: 2.0P: 2.44020 LOT: 2.0P: 2.44000 LOT: 1.0P: 58587 LOT: 2.0P: 2.44000 LOT: 1.0P: 58597 LOT: 2.0P: 58597 LOT: 2.0P: 58597 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td></td<>		
LOT 61 0P: 110779 LOT 30 DF: 59891 LOT 12 DP: 1099144 LOT: 30 DF: 598911 LOT 14 DP: 70391 LOT: 10 DP: 70395 LOT: 10 DP: 107392 LOT: 10 DP: 77395 LOT: 10 DP: 107393 LOT: 10 DP: 77395 LOT: 10 DP: 107393 LOT: 10 DP: 77395 LOT: 10 DP: 107394 LOT: 10 DP: 77395 LOT: 10 DP: 107395 LOT: 10 DP: 77395 LOT: 10 DP: 103865 LOT: 10 DP: 82807 LOT: 10 DP: 103865 LOT: 10 DP: 82807 LOT: 20 DP: 1138171 LOT: 20 DP: 87035 LOT: 20 DP: 1138171 LOT: 20 DP: 87036 LOT: 20 DP: 1138171 LOT: 20 DP: 87036 LOT: 20 DP: 1138171 LOT: 20 DP: 87049 LOT: 20 DP: 1138171 LOT: 20 DP: 87049 LOT: 20 DP: 113827 LOT: 20 DP: 88704 LOT: 20 DP: 113827 LOT: 20 DP: 88704 LOT: 20 DP: 113827 LOT: 20 DP: 88704 LOT: 20 DP: 11382 LOT: 20 DP: 11382 LOT: 20 DP: 11382 LOT: 20 DP: 10017 LOT: 20 DP: 10017 LOT: 20 DP: 10017 LOT: 20 DP: 10017 LOT: 20 DP: 10017 LOT: 20 DP: 10017 LOT: 20 DP		
I.OT. 2DP 109194 I.OT. 3DP 199814 I.OT. 10P. 28975 I.OT. 10P. 28975 I.OT. 10P. 28975 I.OT. 10P. 28975 I.OT. 3DP 110863 I.OT. 10P. 28975 I.OT. 3DP 110863 I.OT. 10P. 28975 I.OT. 3DP 110863 I.OT. 20P. 21985 I.OT. 10P. 189363 I.OT. 2DP 139863 I.OT. 10P 110863 I.OT. 2DP 24026 I.OT. 2DP 139863 I.OT. 2DP 24026 I.OT. 2DP 24000 I.OT. 2DP 25052 I.OT. 2DP 24000 I.OT. 2DP 25052 I.OT. 2DP 26065 I.OT. 2DP 25052 I.OT. 2DP 26064 I.OT. 2DP 25052 I.OT. 2DP 26065 I.OT. 2DP 25052 I.OT. 2DP 26064 I.OT. 2DP 26064 I.OT. 2DP 26064 I.OT. 2DP 26064 I.OT. 2DP 26064 I.OT. 2DP 26064 I.OT. 2DP 181712 I.OT. 2DP 26064 I.OT. 2DP 181712 I.OT. 2DP 260646 I.OT. 2DP 1606280 I.OT. 2DP 160		
LOT: 10 P: 17586 LOT: 11 DP: 25679 LOT: 10 P: 17687 LOT: 10 DP: 25679 LOT: 10 P: 17687 LOT: 10 DP: 25679 LOT: 10 P: 17687 LOT: 10 DP: 15663 LOT: 10 P: 176863 LOT: 10 P: 15663 LOT: 10 P: 176863 LOT: 10 P: 25679 LOT: 10 P: 176863 LOT: 10 P: 25679 LOT: 10 P: 176863 LOT: 10 P: 25680 LOT: 10 P: 176863 LOT: 10 P: 25680 LOT: 10 P: 25680 LOT: 10 P: 25680 LOT: 20 P: 178964 LOT: 10 P: 25582 LOT: 20 P: 178964 LOT: 10 P: 25592 LOT: 20 P: 257845 LOT: 10 P: 26592 LOT: 20 P: 16772 LOT: 20 P: 25592 LOT: 20 P: 16772 LOT: 20 P: 15773 LOT: 20 P: 16772 LOT: 20 P: 15773 LOT: 20 P: 15772 LOT: 20 P: 15773 LOT: 20 P:		
LOT: 10P. 1103097 LOT: 10 DP. 258079 LOT: 30 DP. 1103080 LOT: 10 DP. 75836 LOT: 30 DP. 1103080 LOT: 10 DP. 75836 LOT: 10P. 1135050 LOT: 10 DP. 75836 LOT: 20 DP. 1135050 LOT: 10 DP. 75836 LOT: 20 DP. 1135050 LOT: 10 DP. 125807 LOT: 20 DP. 1135050 LOT: 20 DP. 135505 LOT: 20 DP. 1138711 LOT: 20 DP. 75583 LOT: 20 DP. 1138171 LOT: 20 DP. 75583 LOT: 20 DP. 755845 LOT: 20 DP. 75636 LOT: 40 DP. 255845 LOT: 10 PP. 25582 LOT: 40 DP. 110572 LOT: 41 DP. 1505094 LOT: 40 DP. 105850 LOT: 41 DP. 1505094 LOT: 40 DP. 105850 LOT: 41 DP. 1505094 LOT: 40 DP. 105850		
LOT 30 DP: 1107869 LOT 30 PP. 258679 LOT 10 DP: 117868 LOT 10 DP: 17565 LOT 11 DP: 117868 LOT 10 DP: 117868 LOT 12 DP: 117868 LOT 10 PP. 117868 LOT 20 DP: 1182171 LOT 10 PP. 97565 LOT 20 DP: 1182171 LOT 10 DP: 117868 LOT 20 DP: 1182171 LOT 10 PP. 97565 LOT 20 DP: 24400 LOT 10 PP. 97568 LOT 20 PP. 24400 LOT 10 PP. 97568 LOT 20 PP. 275845 LOT 30 PP. 875845 LOT 30 PP. 875845 LOT 30 PP. 876846 LOT 30 PP. 1167172 LOT 30 PP. 116782 LOT 30 PP. 1167172 LOT 30 PP. 116782 LOT 30 PP. 116782 LOT 30 PP. 1168696 <td></td> <td></td>		
LOT: 31 DP: 1107899 LOT: 10 DP: 77386 LOT: 10 DP: 118683 LOT: 10 DP: 65885 LOT: 10 DP: 118683 LOT: 40 DP: 87083 LOT: 10 DP: 1182171 LOT: 40 DP: 87083 LOT: 10 DP: 65800 LOT: 10 DP: 65800 LOT: 10 DP: 87846 LOT: 10 DP: 65892 LOT: 10 DP: 87846 LOT: 10 DP: 65892 LOT: 10 DP: 87846 LOT: 10 DP: 65892 LOT: 10 DP: 161712 LOT: 10 DP: 65894 LOT: 10 DP: 161712 LOT: 10 DP: 65804 LOT: 10 DP: 161712 LOT: 10 DP: 65804 LOT: 10 DP: 161712 LOT: 10 DP: 65804 LOT: 10 DP: 161712 LOT: 10 PP: 108914 LOT: 10 DP: 161712 LOT: 10 PP: 108814 LOT: 10 DP: 10826 LOT: 10 DP: 108260 LOT: 10 DP: 108260 LOT		LOT: 9 DP: 259679
LOT: 30 Pr. 119863 LOT: 52 DP. 6 19865 LOT: 20 Pr. 118653 LOT: 30 P. 24828 LOT: 20 Pr. 118653 LOT: 10 Pr. 265392 LOT: 20 Pr. 248000 LOT: 10 Pr. 255392 LOT: 20 Pr. 255352 LOT: 30 Pr. 255322 LOT: 30 Pr. 257845 LOT: 30 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 256345 LOT: 30 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 256345 LOT: 30 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 256345 LOT: 50 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 256345 LOT: 50 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 256345 LOT: 40 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 256345 LOT: 40 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 167172 LOT: 40 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 167172 LOT: 40 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 157172 LOT: 40 Pr. 265392 LOT: 40 Pr. 15712 LOT: 40 Pr. 265394 LOT: 40 Pr. 15729 LOT: 40 Pr. 265394 LOT: 40 Pr. 15729 LOT: 40 Pr. 10729 LOT: 40 Pr. 10729 LOT: 40 Pr. 10729 LOT: 40 Pr. 107290 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td></t<>		
LOT: 20 PP: 1138563 LOT: 30 PP: 248386 LOT: 20 PP: 1132171 LOT: 42 PP: 875656 LOT: 20 PP: 1132171 LOT: 42 PP: 875663 LOT: 20 PP: 1132171 LOT: 42 PP: 875663 LOT: 20 PP: 1132171 LOT: 42 PP: 875663 LOT: 20 PP: 175645 LOT: 10 PP: 255382 LOT: 30 PP: 87545 LOT: 30 PP: 87545 LOT: 30 PP: 87565 LOT: 30 PP: 806746 LOT: 20 PP: 115712 LOT: 50 PP: 806746 LOT: 20 PP: 115712 LOT: 10 PP: 806914 LOT: 20 PP: 1145746 LOT: 20 PP: 114574 LOT: 40 PP: 597299 LOT: 31 DP: 746324 LOT: 40 PP: 597299 LOT: 31 DP: 746324 LOT: 40 PP: 107128 LOT: 30 PP: 908914 LOT: 40 PP: 107128 LOT: 30 PP: 908914 LOT: 40 PP: 107128 LOT: 30 PP: 908914 LOT: 20 PP: 107128 LOT: 20 PP: 107128 LOT: 20 PP: 107128 LOT: 20 PP: 107128 LOT: 20 PP: 107128 LOT: 20 PP: 107128 LOT: 20 PP: 107586	LOT: 13 DP: 1116663	LOT: 52 DP: 619695
LOT: 3D P: 1132171 LOT: 4D P: 597265 LOT: 2D P: 244000 LOT: 4D P: 37703 LOT: 2D P: 244000 LOT: 1D P: 655200 LOT: 2D P: 27846 LOT: 1D P: 655200 LOT: 1D P: 757865 LOT: 1D P: 25520 LOT: 2D P: 27846 LOT: 3D P: 279746 LOT: 1D P: 167520 LOT: 3D P: 279746 LOT: 1D P: 167520 LOT: 3D P: 267846 LOT: 2D P: 16772 LOT: 3D P: 267846 LOT: 3D P: 16772 LOT: 3D P: 267846 LOT: 3D P: 16772 LOT: 3D P: 267846 LOT: 4D P: 16772 LOT: 3D P: 267846 LOT: 4D P: 16772 LOT: 4D P: 850509 LOT: 4D P: 16772 LOT: 4D P: 850509 LOT: 4D P: 16772 LOT: 4D P: 165204 LOT: 4D P: 397293 LOT: 4D P: 165204 LOT: 4D P: 105204 LOT: 4D P: 105204 LOT: 4D P: 1052084 LOT: 4D P: 1052084 LOT: 4D P: 1052084 LOT: 4D P: 1052084 <		
LOT: 21 PP: 1132171 LOT: 42 DP: 350863 LOT: 60 PP: 240000 LOT: 10 PP: 65500 LOT: 60 PP: 24000 LOT: 10 PP: 25382 LOT: 70 PP: 24000 LOT: 10 PP: 25382 LOT: 70 PP: 24000 LOT: 10 PP: 25382 LOT: 70 PP: 257845 LOT: 20 PP: 25386 LOT: 70 PP: 757845 LOT: 10 PP: 759113 LOT: 70 PP: 757845 LOT: 10 PP: 759113 LOT: 70 PP: 757845 LOT: 10 PP: 759113 LOT: 70 PP: 119712 LOT: 10 PP: 850509 LOT: 70 PP: 119712 LOT: 10 PP: 850509 LOT: 70 PP: 75786 LOT: 40 PP: 850509 LOT: 70 PP: 75786 LOT: 30 PP: 766124 LOT: 70 PP: 757869 LOT: 30 PP: 766324 LOT: 70 PP: 757869 LOT: 30 PP: 766324 LOT: 70 PP: 757869 LOT: 30 PP: 766324 LOT: 70 PP: 756050 LOT: 30 PP: 766324 LOT: 70 PP: 756369 LOT: 70 PP: 756369 LOT: 70 PP: 756369 LOT: 70 PP: 756364 LOT: 70 PP: 756369 LOT: 70 PP: 756364 LOT: 70 PP: 756369 LOT: 70 PP: 756364 LOT: 70 PP: 756369 LOT: 70 PP: 756091 LOT: 70 PP: 100 PP: 100 PP: 10	LOT: 2 DP: 1138563	
LOT: 60P: 244000 LOT: 10P: 81500 LOT: 60P: 244000 LOT: 50P: 877013 LOT: 60P: 876045 LOT: 50P: 855082 LOT: 70P: 875045 LOT: 50P: 805046 LOT: 60P: 876045 LOT: 50P: 805046 LOT: 60P: 876045 LOT: 50P: 805046 LOT: 60P: 805046 LOT: 50P: 805046 LOT: 60P: 805046 LOT: 80P: 805046 LOT: 60P: 116712 LOT: 60P: 108504 LOT: 60P: 116712 LOT: 60P: 108504 LOT: 60P: 116712 LOT: 60P: 108504 LOT: 60P: 108503 LOT: 60P: 108504 LOT: 60P: 108504 LOT: 60P: 108504 LOT: 60P: 108504 LOT: 60P: 108504 LOT: 60P: 108508 LOT: 60P: 108508 LOT: 60P: 108508 LOT: 60P: 108508 LOT: 70P: 708508 LOT: 70P: 708508 LOT: 70P: 708508 LOT: 70P: 708508 LOT: 70P: 708508 LOT: 70P: 708508 LOT: 70P: 708508 LOT: 70P: 7070		
LOT: 2 PP: 24400 LOT: 4 DP: 24400 LOT: 1 DP: 255392 LOT: 7 DP: 37845 LOT: 2 PP: 37845 LOT: 3 DP: 37845 LOT:		
LOT. 4 DP: 35892 LOT. 1 DP: 35582 LOT: 0 DP: 375845 LOT: 3 DP: 369746 LOT: 0 DP: 375845 LOT: 3 DP: 369746 LOT: 1 DP: 1161712 LOT: 5 DP: 369746 LOT: 3 DP: 376845 LOT: 3 DP: 369746 LOT: 3 DP: 1161712 LOT: 5 DP: 369746 LOT: 3 DP: 1161712 LOT: 5 DP: 369746 LOT: 3 DP: 1161712 LOT: 1 DP: 1163716 LOT: 4 DP: 1161712 LOT: 4 DP: 126830 LOT: 4 DP: 1161712 LOT: 4 DP: 126830 LOT: 4 DP: 108585 LOT: 4 DP: 1082840 LOT: 4 DP: 1082860 LOT: 4 DP: 1082860 LOT: 5 DP: 1094281 LOT: 5 DP: 1094288 LOT: 5 DP: 1094288 LOT: 5 DP: 1094288 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1104866 LOT: 1 DP: 108696 LO		
LOT: DP: 375845 LOT: 2 DP: 355845 LOT: 8 DP: 375845 LOT: 30 DP: 305746 LOT: 9 DP: 375845 LOT: 30 DP: 30569 LOT: 4DP: 161712 LOT: 5 DP: 30569 LOT: 4DP: 161712 LOT: 5 DP: 30569 LOT: 4DP: 161712 LOT: 4DP: 163712 LOT: 4DP: 161712 LOT: 4DP: 163584 LOT: 4DP: 163728 LOT: 4DP: 163814 LOT: 4DP: 163729 LOT: 4DP: 163894 LOT: 4DP: 163894 LOT: 4DP: 163894 LOT: 4DP: 105294 LOT: 4DP: 105294 LOT: 4DP: 105294 LOT: 4DP: 105294 LOT: 4DP: 105294 LOT: 4DP: 105858 LOT: 4DP: 105858 LOT: 4DP: 105858 LOT: 4DP: 105858<	LOT: 4 DP: 244000	LOT: 1 DP: 255392
LOT: 3DP:87845 LOT: 105 116712 LOT: 107: 116712 LOT: 3DP: 80509 LOT: 2DP: 116712 LOT: 3DP: 80509 LOT: 4DP: 116712 LOT: 4DP: 85509 LOT: 4DP: 116712 LOT: 4DP: 85509 LOT: 4DP: 116712 LOT: 4DP: 83814 LOT: 4DP: 116712 LOT: 4DP: 168050 LOT: 4DP: 116712 LOT: 4DP: 108014 LOT: 4DP: 116712 LOT: 4DP: 108014 LOT: 4DP: 108050 LOT: 4DP: 108030 LOT: 4DP: 108050 LOT: 4DP: 1080304 LOT: 4DP: 108050 LOT: 4DP: 108094 LOT: 2DP: 1071132 LOT: 2DP: 1071132 LOT: 3DP: 1079688 LOT: 3DP: 108091 LOT: 3DP: 1079688 LOT: 3DP: 1079688 LOT: 3DP: 1079688 LOT: 3DP: 108433 LOT: 2DP: 107172 LOT: 3DP: 108438 LOT: 2DP: 108438 LOT: 2DP: 108438 LOT: 1DP: 108438 LOT: 1DP: 118409 LOT: 1DP: 108438	LOT: 7 DP: 875845	LOT: 2 DP: 255392
LOT: 10 Pr. 1181712 LOT: 5 DP. 865659 LOT: 20 Pr. 1181712 LOT: 10 Pr. 865659 LOT: 30 Pr. 1181712 LOT: 41 DP. 338914 LOT: 40 Pr. 1181712 LOT: 41 DP. 338914 LOT: 40 Pr. 1181712 LOT: 41 DP. 338914 LOT: 40 Pr. 1182586 LOT: 42 Pr. 369144 LOT: 40 Pr. 1182586 LOT: 30 Pr. 1028500 LOT: 40 Pr. 118259 LOT: 30 Pr. 1028500 LOT: 40 Pr. 1028600 LOT: 40 Pr. 1028600 LOT: 40 Pr. 1028600 LOT: 40 Pr. 1028044 LOT: 40 Pr. 102804 LOT: 40 Pr. 102804 LOT: 40 Pr. 102804 LOT: 40 Pr. 102804 LOT: 40 Pr. 102804 LOT: 40 Pr. 102804 LOT: 40 Pr. 102804 LOT: 40 Pr. 108204 LOT: 40 Pr. 108204 LOT: 40 Pr. 108204 LOT: 40 Pr. 108204 LOT: 40 Pr. 108204 LOT: 50 Pr. 1079688 LOT: 70 Pr. 108204 LOT: 70 Pr. 108480 LOT: 70 Pr. 108483 LOT: 70 Pr. 108483 LOT: 70 Pr. 1094328 LOT: 10 Pr. 110779 LOT: 10 Pr. 110779 LOT: 10 Pr. 110779 LOT: 10 Pr. 114436 LOT: 10 Pr. 114438 LOT: 10 Pr. 114438 LOT: 10		
LOT: 2 DP: 1161712 LOT: 3 DP: 1161712 LOT: 4 DP: 1161712 LOT: 4 DP: 838914 LOT: 4 DP: 1161712 LOT: 4 DP: 838914 LOT: 4 DP: 1148536 LOT: 4 DP: 838914 LOT: 4 DP: 1148536 LOT: 3 DP: 1028560 LOT: 4 DP: 105299 LOT: 3 DP: 1028560 LOT: 4 DP: 1052094 LOT: 4 DP: 1052094 LOT: 4 DP: 1052094 LOT: 4 DP: 1052094 LOT: 2 DP: 1042517 LOT: 4 DP: 1052094 LOT: 2 DP: 1071152 LOT: 4 DP: 1052094 LOT: 2 DP: 1071152 LOT: 2 DP: 1071152 LOT: 2 DP: 1071152 LOT: 3 DP: 1056091 LOT: 2 DP: 1070568 LOT: 3 DP: 105668 LOT: 3 DP: 1084843 LOT: 3 DP: 1096568 LOT: 4 DP: 1079568 LOT: 2 DP: 1079568 LOT: 4 DP: 1079568 LOT: 1 DP: 104288 LOT: 1 DP: 1084843 LOT: 1 DP: 1084843 LOT: 1 DP: 1084845 LOT: 1 DP: 1084863 LOT: 1 DP: 1084846 LOT: 1 DP: 1084826 LOT: 1 DP: 1084826		
LOT: 3 DP: 1161712 LOT: 4 DP: 85509 LOT: 4 DP: 1148536 LOT: 4 DP: 838914 LOT: 4 DP: 1148536 LOT: 3 DP: 76324 LOT: 4 DP: 1148536 LOT: 3 DP: 76324 LOT: 4 DP: 1148536 LOT: 3 DP: 76324 LOT: 4 DP: 1028580 LOT: 4 DP: 1028580 LOT: 4 DP: 1026504 LOT: 2 DP: 107152 LOT: 2 DP: 107152 LOT: 2 DP: 107152 LOT: 2 DP: 107152 LOT: 2 DP: 1070568 LOT: 3 DP: 1079658 LOT: 3 DP: 1079658 LOT: 1 DP: 1082634 LOT: 1 DP: 1082634 LOT: 2 DP: 1070658 LOT: 3 DP: 1079658 LOT: 1 DP: 108463 LOT: 3 DP: 1079658 LOT: 1 DP: 1084283 LOT: 2 DP: 107142 LOT: 2 DP: 1070658 LOT: 1 DP: 108428 LOT: 1 DP: 108428 LOT: 1 DP: 108428 LOT: 1 DP: 108428 LOT: 1 DP: 114436 LOT: 1 DP: 114436 LOT: 1 DP: 114436 LOT: 1 DP: 108650 LOT: 1 DP: 108650 LOT: 1 DP: 108650 LOT: 1 DP: 10865		
LOT: 40 Pr: 1146336 LOT: 40 Pr: 383814 LOT: 40 Pr: 146836 LOT: 40 Pr: 838914 LOT: 40 Pr: 146836 LOT: 30 Pr: 1026880 LOT: 40 Pr: 146536 LOT: 30 Pr: 1026880 LOT: 40 Pr: 146536 LOT: 30 Pr: 1026880 LOT: 40 Pr: 1052094 LOT: 40 Pr: 1052094 LOT: 20 Pr: 1042817 LOT: 20 Pr: 107132 LOT: 20 Pr: 107132 LOT: 20 Pr: 1079686 LOT: 20 Pr: 1079686 LOT: 20 Pr: 1079686 LOT: 20 Pr: 1079686 LOT: 30 Pr: 105686 LOT: 20 Pr: 1079686 LOT: 20 Pr: 1079686 LOT: 20 Pr: 1079686 LOT: 10 Pr: 103428 LOT: 10 Pr: 1034326 LOT: 10 Pr: 1034326 LOT: 10 Pr: 1034326 LOT: 10 Pr: 103436 LOT: 10 Pr: 1034326 LOT: 10 Pr: 103436 LOT: 10 Pr: 103686 LOT: 10 Pr: 103436 LOT: 10 Pr: 103696 LOT: 10 Pr: 103666 LOT: 10 Pr: 103697 LOT: 10 Pr: 103666		
LOT: 104 DP: 1148536 LOT: 31 DP: 746324 LOT: 31 DP: 746324 LOT: 30 PP: 746324 LOT: 61 DP: 1028580 LOT: 30 PP: 746324 LOT: 40 DP: 102850 LOT: 30 PP: 746324 LOT: 40 DP: 102850 LOT: 40 DP: 105204 LOT: 20 PP: 107132 LOT: 20 PP: 107132 LOT: 20 PP: 1079583 LOT: 30 PP: 1079688 LOT: 30 PP: 1079686 LOT: 70 PP: 85568 LOT: 10 PP: 1052044 LOT: 20 PP: 1079688 LOT: 20 PP: 1079686 LOT: 30 PP: 1079686 LOT: 30 PP: 1079686 LOT: 30 PP: 1074328 LOT: 30 PP: 1074328 LOT: 30 PP: 107436 LOT: 30 PP: 1074328 LOT: 10 PP: 1044306 LOT: 30 PP: 107438 LOT: 30 PP: 107436 LOT: 30 PP: 107378 LOT: 30 PP: 107396 LOT: 30 PP: 107386 LOT: 30 PP: 107396 LOT: 30 PP: 107379 LOT: 30 PP: 107386 LOT: 30 PP: 107386 LOT: 30 PP: 107386 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td></td<>		
LOT: 8 DP: 1028500 LOT: 6 DP: 1042617 LOT: 410 DP: 1082094 LOT: 410 DP: 1082094 LOT: 21 DP: 1082091 LOT: 21 DP: 109868 LOT: 3 DP: 107868 LOT: 3 DP: 108463 LOT: 3 DP: 108463 LOT: 21 DP: 108428 LOT: 21 DP: 108428 LOT: 21 DP: 104328 LOT: 11 DP: 108428 LOT: 11 DP: 104328 LOT: 11 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 108600 LOT: 12 DP: 108601 LOT: 12 DP: 108601 <td></td> <td></td>		
LOT: 2 DF: 1028580 LOT: 2 DF: 1042517 LOT: 410 DF: 1052094 LOT: 410 DF: 1052094 LOT: 410 DF: 1052094 LOT: 2 DF: 1071132 LOT: 2 DF: 1071132 LOT: 2 DF: 1079658 LOT: 3 DF: 1079658 LOT: 10 DF: 1052094 LOT: 2 DF: 1079658 LOT: 3 DF: 1079658 LOT: 10 DF: 1084633 LOT: 10 DF: 1084633 LOT: 10 DF: 1084638 LOT: 10 DF: 1084638 LOT: 10 DF: 1084638 LOT: 2 DF: 1094528 LOT: 2 DF: 1084633 LOT: 2 DF: 1084633 LOT: 2 DF: 1084638 LOT: 2 DF: 1084638 LOT: 2 DF: 1084638 LOT: 2 DF: 114980 LOT: 1 DF: 1124490 LOT: 1 DF: 112490 LOT: 1 2 DF: 1144936 LOT: 1 2 DF: 114936 LOT: 1 2 DF: 114936 LOT: 1 2 DF: 114936 LOT: 1 2 DF: 130850 LOT: 1 2 DF: 130850 LOT: 1 2 DF: 130850 LOT: 2 DF: 130850 LOT: 3 DF: 2 DF: 113027 LOT: 3 DF: 107702 LOT: 10 DF: 1177069 <td>LOT: 44 DP: 597299</td> <td></td>	LOT: 44 DP: 597299	
LOT: 2 DP: 1042517 LOT: 410 DP: 1052094 LOT: 411 DP: 1052094 LOT: 2 DP: 107132 LOT: 2 DP: 596091 LOT: 2 DP: 107858 LOT: 3 DP: 1078658 LOT: 6 DP: 285566 LOT: 6 DP: 1094238 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1044328 LOT: 1 DP: 1044328 LOT: 1 DP: 1044328 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 130850 LOT: 2 DP: 1144936 LOT: 2 DP: 114936 LOT: 2 DP: 110P: 30650 LOT: 2 DP: 114793 LOT: 2 DP: 114936 LOT: 2 DP: 114936 LOT: 2 DP: 116712 LOT: 2 DP: 116712 LOT: 2 DP: 116779 LOT: 2 DP: 116779		
UT: 410 DP: 1052094 LOT: 410 DP: 1052094 LOT: 2 DP: 107132 LOT: 2 DP: 596091 LOT: 2 DP: 1079658 LOT: 2 DP: 1079658 LOT: 3 DP: 1089668 LOT: 8 DP: 285568 LOT: 9 DP: 1099658 LOT: 9 DP: 1099658 LOT: 9 DP: 285568 LOT: 10 PP: 1094328 LOT: 10 PP: 1094328 LOT: 10 PP: 1124090 LOT: 10 PP: 1124090 LOT: 10 PP: 1144396 LOT: 10 PP: 144436 LOT: 10 PP: 144436 LOT: 10 PP: 144936 LOT: 10 PP: 1109650 LOT: 20 PP: 1107172 LOT: 10 PP: 1109650 LOT: 20 PP: 110712 LOT: 30 PP: 753326 LOT: 30 PP: 753326 LOT: 30 PP: 116712 LOT: 10 PP: 1107699 LOT: 20 PP: 1185615 LOT: 20 PP: 1185615		LOT: 6 DP: 1028580
LOT: 411 DP: 1052094 LOT: 21 DP: 596091 LOT: 22 DP: 1079658 LOT: 20 PP: 1099658 LOT: 20 PP: 1099658 LOT: 20 PP: 1099658 LOT: 20 PP: 1099428 LOT: 20 PP: 109428 LOT: 20 PP: 1094328 LOT: 20 PP: 1094328 LOT: 10 PP: 1124948 LOT: 10 PP: 1124948 LOT: 10 PP: 1142496 LOT: 12 PP: 1144936 LOT: 12 PP: 1144936 LOT: 12 PP: 114936 LOT: 12 PP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 20 PP: 130551 LOT: 30 DP: 753326 LOT: 30 DP: 753326 LOT: 30 DP: 1161712 LOT: 30 DP: 116772 LOT: 30 DP: 1190059 LOT: 30 DP: 1190059 LOT: 30 DP: 1190059 LOT: 30 DP: 1182615 LOT: 30 DP: 1182615<		
LOT: 2 DP: 1071132 LOT: 2 DP: 596091 LOT: 2 DP: 596091 LOT: 2 DP: 1079658 LOT: 3 DP: 1098463 LOT: 1 DP: 1098428 LOT: 2 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 2 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 112498 LOT: 1 DP: 112498 LOT: 1 DP: 112498 LOT: 1 DP: 1139650 LOT: 1 DP: 1130850 LOT: 1 DP: 1130850 LOT: 1 DP: 130650 LOT: 1 DP: 130650 LOT: 2 DP: 130650 LOT: 2 DP: 110712 LOT: 2 DP: 11079089 LOT: 1 DP: 1128261 LOT: 1 DP: 1120650 LOT: 1 DP: 1130650 LOT: 2 DP: 1130650 LOT: 2 DP: 1130650 LOT: 3 DP: 753326 LOT: 1 DP: 112 LOT: 1 DP: 112 LOT:		
LOT: 22 DP: 596091 LOT: 2 DP: 1079658 LOT: 3 DP: 1079658 LOT: 3 DP: 1079658 LOT: 3 DP: 108463 LOT: 7 DP: 285568 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 114498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1144386 LOT: 1 DP: 1144386 LOT: 1 DP: 1144386 LOT: 1 DP: 1144386 LOT: 1 DP: 1144396 LOT: 1 DP: 114990 LOT: 1 DP: 1149396 LOT: 2 DP: 1149396 LOT: 2 DP: 1149396 LOT: 1 DP: 113650 LOT: 1 DP: 1149396 LOT: 1 DP: 113650 LOT: 1 DP: 1139069 LOT: 303 DP: 75326 LOT: 1 DP: 11172 LOT: 1 DP: 11179069 LOT: 1 DP: 11179069 LOT: 1 DP: 1138015		
LOT: 2 DP: 1079658 LOT: 3 DP: 1088463 LOT: 7 DP: 1088463 LOT: 7 DP: 285568 LOT: 1 DP: 108428 LOT: 2 DP: 108428 LOT: 1 DP: 109428 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 112498 LOT: 1 DP: 1132490 LOT: 1 DP: 1132490 LOT: 1 DP: 1132490 LOT: 1 DP: 1132490 LOT: 1 DP: 130450 LOT: 1 DP: 130650 LOT: 1 DP: 130650 LOT: 1046 DP: 753326 LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 1046 DP: 753326 LOT: 105 DP: 1181712 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 117059 LOT: 10P: 1128251 LOT: 10P: 11285615		
LOT: 3 DP: 1079658 LOT: 7 DP: 285568 LOT: 7 DP: 285568 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 2 DP: 1094328 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124496 LOT: 1 DP: 112490 LOT: 1 DP: 112496 LOT: 1 DP: 112497 LOT: 2 DP: 1144936 LOT: 2 DP: 1144936 LOT: 10 DP: 130650 LOT: 10 DP: 130650 LOT: 10 DP: 130650 LOT: 10 DP: 753326 LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 10 DP: 1179069 LOT: 10 DP: 1193079 LOT: 10 DP: 112859 LOT: 10 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615		
I.OT: 3 DP: 108463 I.OT: 7 DP: 285568 I.OT: 1 DP: 1094328 I.OT: 2 DP: 1094328 I.OT: 2 DP: 1101779 I.OT: 1 DP: 1123490 I.OT: 1 DP: 1123490 I.OT: 1 DP: 1123490 I.OT: 2 DP: 1144936 I.OT: 2 DP: 1149366 I.OT: 1 DP: 1123490 I.OT: 1 DP: 1123490 I.OT: 1 DP: 1123490 I.OT: 1 DP: 1149366 I.OT: 2 DP: 1144936 I.OT: 2 DP: 1149366 I.OT: 2 DP: 1149366 I.OT: 2 DP: 1149366 I.OT: 2 DP: 1149366 I.OT: 2 DP: 110650 I.OT: 1 DP: 130650 I.OT: 1 DP: 130326 I.OT: 2 DP: 1161712 I.OT: 1 DP: 128326 I.OT: 1 DP: 117172 I.OT: 1 DP: 117266 I.OT: 1 DP: 1179069 I.OT: 1 DP: 1179069 I.OT: 1 DP: 1179069 I.OT: 1 DP: 122859 I.OT: 1 DP: 122859 I.OT: 1 DP: 122859 I.OT: 2 DP: 1185615 <td></td> <td></td>		
LOT: 7 DP: 285568 LOT: 8 DP: 285568 LOT: 2 DP: 1094328 LOT: 2 DP: 1094328 LOT: 2 DP: 1104739 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124496 LOT: 1 DP: 1124496 LOT: 1 DP: 1124496 LOT: 1 DP: 112490 LOT: 1 DP: 112496 LOT: 1 DP: 112496 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 105 DP: 753326 LOT: 323 DP: 753326 LOT: 105 DP: 161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1161712 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1185615 LOT: 107 DP: 1185615 LOT: 107 DP: 1186615 LOT: 20P: 1186615 LOT: 20P: 1186615 LOT: 20P: 1186615		
LOT: 8 DP: 28568 LOT: 1 DP: 1094328 LOT: 62 DP: 1094328 LOT: 62 DP: 1101779 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 112490 LOT: 2 DP: 1144936 LOT: 2 DP: 144936 LOT: 1 SEC: 10P: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 144936 LOT: 2 DP: 13050 LOT: 2 DP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 30 DP: 75326 LOT: 30 DP: 75326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 06 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1172852 LOT: 107 DP: 117969 LOT: 107 DP: 117069 LOT: 107 DP: 117069 LOT: 107 DP: 117069 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 2 DP: 1193615 LOT: 2 DP: 1186615		
LOT: 2 DP: 1094328 LOT: 62 DP: 1101779 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1123490 LOT: 12 DP: 114396 LOT: 12 DP: 114936 LOT: 12 DP: 114936 LOT: 12 DP: 114936 LOT: 12 DP: 108650 LOT: 1046 DP: 753326 LOT: 30 S DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1141712 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 70 TP: 1179069 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 3 DP: 112859 LOT: 10 P: 1128515 LOT: 10 P: 1128515		
LOT: 62 DP: 1101779 LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1124490 LOT: 11 SEC: DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 104 DP: 753326 LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107: 1179069 LOT: 107: 1179: 1179069 LOT: 107: 107: 1179: 1179069 LOT: 107: 107: 1179: 1179069 LOT: 107: 107: 1179069 LOT: 209: 1183073 LOT: 107: 107: 1179069 LOT: 107: 107: 1179069 LOT: 107: 107: 1179069 LOT: 107: 107: 1179069 LOT: 209: 1183615 LOT: 107: 107: 107: 107: 107: 1185615 LOT: 107: 107: 107: 107: 107: 1185615 LOT: 209: 1183615 LOT: 207: 1179707		
LOT: 1 DP: 1124498 LOT: 1 DP: 1123490 LOT: 11 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 23 DP: 540881 LOT: 11 DP: 130650 LOT: 10 PP: 130650 LOT: 1046 DP: 753326 LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 30 DP: 723251 LOT: 30 DP: 1212859 LOT: 10P: 1186615 LOT: 2 DP: 1186615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615		
LOT: 1 DP: 1123490 LOT: 11 SEC: 114936 LOT: 22 DP: 1144936 LOT: 23 DP: 540881 LOT: 11 DP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 75326 LOT: 303 DP: 75326 LOT: 303 DP: 75326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 11712 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 20 P: 1193079 LOT: 107 DP: 1193079 LOT: 109: 11920521 LOT: 20 DP: 1185615 LOT: 31 DP: 176707		
LOT: 11 SEC: DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 104 DP: 753266 LOT: 1030 DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1178069 LOT: 2 DP: 118307E LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 10P: 11285615 LOT: 10P: 76707		
LOT: 12 DP: 1144936 LOT: 23 DP: 540881 LOT: 11 DP: 130650 LOT: 11 DP: 130650 LOT: 1046 DP: 753326 LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 10 DP: 1161712 LOT: 10 DP: 1179069 LOT: 10 DP: 1193079 LOT: 3 DP: 122521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 76707		
LOT: 23 DP: 540881 LOT: 11 DP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 104 DP: 753326 LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 323 DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1161712 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 1 DP: 1202521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1776707		
LOT: 11 DP: 130650 LOT: 12 DP: 130650 LOT: 1046 DP: 753326 LOT: 323 DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 10 DP: 1161712 LOT: 10 DP: 1179069 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 1 DP: 122521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		
LOT: 1046 DP: 753326 LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 323 DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1193079 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		LOT: 11 DP: 130650
LOT: 303 DP: 753326 LOT: 323 DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 3 DP: 1202521 LOT: 1 DP: 112859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615		
LOT: 323 DP: 753326 LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 1 DP: 1202521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615		
LOT: 5 DP: 1161712 LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 1 DP: 1202521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 776707		
LOT: 6 DP: 1161712 LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 1 DP: 1202521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		
LOT: 106 DP: 1179069 LOT: 107 DP: 1179069 LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 1 DP: 1202521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		
LOT: 2 DP: 1193079 LOT: 1 DP: 1202521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		LOT: 106 DP: 1179069
LOT: 1 DP: 1202521 LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		
LOT: 3 DP: 1212859 LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		
LOT: 1 DP: 1185615 LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		
LOT: 2 DP: 1185615 LOT: 831 DP: 776707		
LOT: 831 DP: 776707		
		LOT: 831 DP: 776707
		LOT: 1 DP: 526524

Part B: Table Top

Lot & Deposited Plan	Part Lot & Deposited Plan
LOT & Deposited Fian LOT: 1 DP: 602731	LOT: 7 DP: 243444
LOT: 21 DP: 772029	LOT: 22 DP: 772029
LOT: 1 DP: 243444 LOT: 52 DP: 573930	LOT: 73 DP: 592277 LOT: 1012 DP: 866903
LOT: 1 DP: 848417	LOT: 4 DP: 605971
LOT: 71 DP: 592277	LOT: 26 DP: 616172
LOT: 72 DP: 592277 LOT: 2 DP: 708218	LOT: 2 DP: 1001859 LOT: 221 DP: 596211
LOT: 3 DP: 708218	LOT: 52 DP: 753329
LOT: 4 DP: 708218	LOT: 6 DP: 771515
LOT: 2 DP: 831943 LOT: 61 DP: 836355	LOT: 5 DP: 771515 LOT: 12 DP: 246919
LOT: 71 DP: 592185	LOT: 22 DP: 620100
LOT: 82 DP: 604061	LOT: 421 DP: 595012
LOT: 91 DP: 595071 LOT: 113 DP: 580975	LOT: 38 DP: 753345 LOT: 37 DP: 753345
LOT: 116 DP: 705707	LOT: 62 DP: 787340
LOT: 21 DP: 588428 LOT: 22 DP: 588428	LOT: 11 DP: 594480 LOT: 2 DP: 841685
LOT: 3 DP: 245867	LOT: 9 DP: 251233
LOT: 511 DP: 602087	LOT: 1 DP: 253751
LOT: 512 DP: 602087 LOT: 34 DP: 589296	LOT: 2 DP: 253751 LOT: 2 DP: 598660
LOT: 31 DP: 589296	LOT: 1411 DP: 865759
LOT: 1 DP: 600683	LOT: 2 DP: 850508
LOT: 2 DP: 600683 LOT: 5 DP: 611451	LOT: 302 DP: 872378 LOT: 1 DP: 1001859
LOT: 3 DP: 605971	LOT: 4 DP: 244253
LOT: 2 DP: 605971	LOT: 5 DP: 1031884
LOT: 1 DP: 605971 LOT: 4 DP: 793417	LOT: 26 DP: 1037621 LOT: 1 DP: 1038522
LOT: 5 DP: 793417	LOT: 2 DP: 1038522
LOT: 32 DP: 589296	LOT: 505 DP: 1043203
LOT: 22 DP: 595787 LOT: 21 DP: 595787	LOT: 508 DP: 1043203 LOT: 103 DP: 1046188
LOT: 15 DP: 246919	LOT: 104 DP: 1046188
LOT: 1 DP: 260832	LOT: 102 DP: 1055692
LOT: 453 DP: 598152 LOT: 3 DP: 590383	LOT: 13 DP: 1064571 LOT: 8 DP: 1064244
LOT: 2 DP: 590383	LOT: 9 DP: 1064244
LOT: 1 DP: 590383	LOT: 10 DP: 1064244
LOT: 32 DP: 753345 LOT: 4 DP: 246919	LOT: 11 DP: 1064244 LOT: 12 DP: 1064244
LOT: 5 DP: 246919	LOT: 20 DP: 1076914
LOT: 3 DP: 260832	LOT: 21 DP: 1076914
LOT: 7 DP: 260832 LOT: 8 DP: 260832	LOT: 5 DP: 1089733 LOT: 10 DP: 1089733
LOT: 1 DP: 588192	LOT: 36 DP: 753345
LOT: 2 DP: 588192	LOT: 7 DP: 753361 LOT: 91 DP: 1119975
LOT: 3 DP: 785168 LOT: 8 DP: 246919	LOT: 2 DP: 1094712
LOT: 2 DP: 593320	LOT: 1 DP: 726202
LOT: 1 DP: 593320 LOT: 30 DP: 650480	LOT: 80 DP: 753361 LOT: 8 DP: 753361
LOT: 1 DP: 251233	LOT: 59 DP: 753361
LOT: 4 DP: 251233	LOT: 60 DP: 753361
LOT: 53 DP: 834035 LOT: 8 DP: 251233	LOT: 61 DP: 1112337 LOT: 4 DP: 286114
LOT: 4 DP: 253751	LOT: 1 DP: 1122078
LOT: 3 DP: 253751	LOT: 2 DP: 1122078
LOT: 5 DP: 253751 LOT: 7 DP: 253751	LOT: 52 DP: 1119851 LOT: 53 DP: 1119851
LOT: 8 DP: 253751	LOT: 101 DP: 1048211
LOT: 1 DP: 594866	LOT: 71 DP: 1132109
LOT: 3 DP: 594866 LOT: 11 DP: 626636	LOT: 72 DP: 1132109 LOT: 2 SEC: DP: 1142059
LOT: 12 DP: 626636	LOT: 5 DP: 286114
LOT: 13 DP: 626636	LOT: 6 DP: 286114
LOT: 1 DP: 606537 LOT: 2 DP: 606537	LOT: 2 DP: 243444 LOT: 1 DP: 227156
LOT: 3 DP: 606537	LOT: 11 DP: 246919
LOT: 42 DP: 610289 LOT: 43 DP: 610289	LOT: 6 DP: 255763
LOT: 43 DP: 610289 LOT: 1410 DP: 865759	LOT: 155 DP: 777421 LOT: 39 DP: 753345
LOT: 3 DP: 831596	LOT: 10 DP: 255763
LOT: 4 DP: 831596 LOT: 5 DP: 831596	LOT: 5 DP: 785168 LOT: 1 DP: 456536
LOT: 6 DP: 831596	LOT: 90 DP: 665039
LOT: 92 DP: 833594	LOT: 221 DP: 753361
LOT: 62 DP: 836355	LOT: 9 DP: 1052841
LOT: 1 DP: 807489 LOT: 70 DP: 852123	LOT: 75 DP: 753361 PLT: 1 DP: 1094712
LOT: 1 DP: 854316	PLT: 1 DP: 1094712
LOT: 1 DP: 831943 LOT: 61 DP: 873921	LOT: 17 DP: 1156541 LOT: 18 DP: 1156541
LOT: 542 DP: 884207	LOT: 4 DP: 286362
LOT: 3 DP: 1001318	LOT: 15 DP: 1158803
LOT: 2 DP: 1014715 LOT: 1 DP: 1014715	LOT: 16 DP: 1158803 LOT: 205 DP: 1171231
LOT: 2 DP: 1014/15	LOT: 206 DP: 1171231
LOT: 1 DP: 1007689	LOT: 250 DP: 1188134
LOT: 311 DP: 1013886	LOT: 2 DP: 1201062
LOT: 5410 DP: 1016780 LOT: 14 DP: 1006496	LOT: 331 DP: 1155272 LOT: 2 DP:1100994
LOT: 16 DP: 1006496	LOT: 506 DP: 1043203
LOT: 17 DP: 1006496	LOT:100 DP: 1048211
LOT: 51 DP: 1022290 LOT: 62 DP: 873921	LOT: 107 DP: 753361 LOT: 108 DP: 753361
LOT: 4 DP: 1031884	LOT: 1 DP: 717201
LOT: 501 DP: 1037690	LOT: 2 DP:717201
LOT: 502 DP: 1037690 LOT: 503 DP: 1037690	LOT: 34 DP: 753345 LOT: 104 DP: 1213162
LOT: 504 DP: 1037690	LOT: 503 DP: 588266

LOT: 510 DP: 1042071 LOT: 410 DP: 1042649 LOT: 411 DP: 1042649	LOT: 9 DP: 246919 LOT: 2 DP: 260832
LOT: 507 DP: 1043203 LOT: 1 DP: 1046613	
LOT: 2 DP: 1046613	
LOT: 1110 DP: 1047601 LOT: 1111 DP: 1047601	
LOT: 10 DP: 1050199	
LOT: 11 DP: 1050199	
LOT: 12 DP: 1050199 LOT: 13 DP: 1050199	
LOT: 690 DP: 1048943	
LOT: 691 DP: 1048943	
LOT: 692 DP: 1048943 LOT: 693 DP: 1048943	
LOT: 694 DP: 1048943	
LOT: 53 DP: 1049807 LOT: 101 DP: 1055692	
LOT: 60 DP: 1058366	
LOT: 61 DP: 1058366	
LOT: 8 DP: 1064571 LOT: 9 DP: 1064571	
LOT: 10 DP: 1064571	
LOT: 11 DP: 1064571 LOT: 12 DP: 1064571	
LOT: 16 DP: 1064571	
LOT: 20 DP: 1074555	
LOT: 21 DP: 1074555 LOT: 22 DP: 1074555	
LOT: 23 DP: 1074555	
LOT: 24 DP: 1074555 LOT: 25 DP: 1074555	
LOT: 26 DP: 1074555	
LOT: 27 DP: 1074555	
LOT: 1 DP: 1062281 LOT: 2 DP: 1062281	
LOT: 3 DP: 1062281	
LOT: 4 DP: 1062281	
LOT: 5 DP: 1062281 LOT: 6 DP: 1062281	
PLT: 16 DP: 1019862	
LOT: 222 DP: 753361 LOT: 11 DP: 1072210	
LOT: 12 DP: 1072210	
LOT: 7006 DP: 1117573	
LOT: 1 DP: 1077912 LOT: 2 DP: 1077912	
LOT: 3 DP: 1077912	
LOT: 101 DP: 1074439 LOT: 21 DP: 1089807	
LOT: 22 DP: 1089807	
LOT: 6 DP: 1079655	
LOT: 6 DP: 1089733 LOT: 9 DP: 1089733	
LOT: 1 DP: 1098020	
LOT: 2 DP: 1098020 LOT: 3 DP: 1098020	
LOT: 92 DP: 1119975	
LOT: 1 DP: 1160466	
LOT: 2 DP: 1160466 LOT: 92 DP: 574852	
LOT: 91 DP: 574852	
LOT: 93 DP: 574852	
LOT: 29 DP: 753345 LOT: 1 DP: 286114	
LOT: 55 DP: 1117770	
LOT: 56 DP: 1117770 LOT: 51 DP: 1119851	
LOT: 55 DP: 1119851	
LOT: 56 DP: 1119851	
LOT: 57 DP: 1119851 LOT: 61 DP: 1124055	
LOT: 62 SEC: DP: 1124055	
LOT: 101 DP: 591185	
LOT: 102 DP: 591185 LOT: 1 SEC: DP: 1142059	
LOT: 541 DP: 1144695	
LOT: 542 SEC: DP: 1144695 LOT: 21 DP: 1144598	
LOT: 22 DP: 1144598	
LOT: 4 DP: 245867	
LOT: 3 DP: 246919 LOT: 6 DP: 246919	
LOT: 4 DP: 260832	
LOT: 5 DP: 260832 LOT: 4 DP: 785168	
LUI. 4 DF. 703100	

LOT: 76 DP: 753361	
LOT: 1 DP: 1163718	
LOT: 2 DP: 1163718	
LOT: 1 DP: 1165911	
LOT: 1 DP: 286362	
LOT: 2 DP: 286362	
LOT: 3 DP: 286362	
LOT: 541 DP: 1172775	
LOT: 542 DP: 1172775	
LOT: 1 DP: 1177719	
LOT: 2 DP: 1177719	
LOT: 13 DP: 1158803	
LOT: 14 DP: 1158803	
LOT: 1 DP: 1178237	
LOT: 2 DP: 1178237	
LOT: 1 DP: 1178724	
LOT: 2 DP: 1178724	
LOT: 251 DP: 1188134	
LOT: 40 DP: 1203363	
LOT: 41 DP: 1203363	
LOT: 42 DP: 1203363	
LOT: 332 DP: 1155272	
LOT: 1 DP: 1198786	
LOT: 2 DP: 1198786	
LOT: 1 DP: 1219215	
LOT: 2 DP: 1219215	
LOT: 101 DP: 1213162	
LOT: 102 DP: 1213162	
LOT: 103 DP: 1213162	
LOT: 1 DP: 1100994	
LOT: 12 DP: 594480	